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Tuesday, April 24, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m.


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, RESUMED


George Carleton; Previously Sworn


Frank Jakob; Previously Sworn


Mike Penstone; Previously Sworn


Andy Stenning; Previously Sworn


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  We are reconvening in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501.  This is day 2 of the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  Yesterday we began the examination of the panel on sustaining programs.  This morning, Mr. Buonaguro of VECC will cross‑examine this panel, followed by re‑examination by Mr. Rogers and Board Panel's questions.


We will then begin the cross‑examination of panel 2, the panel on development and operations.


Just as an administrative matter:  Regardless of how quickly we get through panel 2, and I have no idea how long that will take, we will not begin panel 3 until May 7th or May 8th, depending on what happens with panel 2, but for your planning, I thought you might want to know that.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Are think any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. ROGERS:  I have several matters, Madam Chair.  First of all, I think we can start off with this, a matter dealing with panel 2.


Through conversations with Board counsel and staff, it became apparent that there is some concern, I think, about the development capital budget and what we're asking this Board to do by way of approvals.


It seemed to us that probably the best way to do this would be to file -- have an explanation at the beginning of panel 2, first of all, as to the various categories of capital that are included in the submission before you.  It breaks down into four categories, basically, which have different levels of requirement for Board scrutiny at this time.  


We prepared a document, which has a very brief narrative describing the types of capital projects which are included in the company's filings, and a graph or tables attached to it which break them out on a project-by-project basis as Board Staff requested.


Now, we will explain this.  I think it's fairly simple once the document is in hand and we have someone explain it, but what I propose is to have ‑‑ I have had copies made.  I will distribute those now.  We will be calling panel 2 sometime during the course of the day, and, when we do that, the first order of business will be to explain to people how this works and what is required.  


Now, I just want to add I'm not one who likes to file last-minute documents, particularly acting for an applicant, but in this case we really thought that this probably is the most efficient way to deal with this issue.


We hope ‑‑ I don't think it will cause people too much concern once they see what has been done.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Rogers, this is what we will do.  We will mark it as an exhibit.  We will make sure that we have a break before we begin panel 2 and give parties an opportunity to look at the document.  If they have any concerns regarding their preparation, I'm sure that they will inform us at that point.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I guess we're not sitting tomorrow, I believe, and we're coming back Thursday.


MS. NOWINA:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  So I was kind of comforted by that, too, that if people do have a serious problem with this and understanding it, we can come back Thursday and they will have a day to look at it.  I hope that won't be necessary.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.


MS. LEA:  We will mark that, then, with your leave, Madam Chair, as Exhibit L2.1.  L2.1.


EXHIBIT NO. L2.1:  DOCUMENT ON APPLICANT'S CAPITAL 


PROJECTS.


MR. ROGERS:  I will just make copies available and people can pick them up at their convenience.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, I have a few other matters, if I might, Madam Chair, just dealing with yesterday's testimony.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  First of all, Mr. Penstone brought to my attention that there was a transcript correction which he would like to make, because it sort of changes the sense of what he was saying.  


I should tell the Board, as well, that my practice will be, subject to your approval, that we're not going to correct every grammatical error or inconsequential thing that happens in the transcript, but I have instructed the witnesses that if they see something that has either been -- highly unlikely though it is -- misquoted by the court reporter, or if they have misspoken and materially it changes things, we should draw it to your attention.  


So that's what I'm going to do with Mr. Penstone.  


FURTHER EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROGERS:


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone, I understand there was one thing that was said yesterday in the transcript that you felt, because you used the wrong tense, may mislead people; is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Where would that be found and what correction would you like to make?


MR. PENSTONE:  In the written transcripts, it would be found on page 86, line 7 and 8.


MR. ROGERS:  People may not have the transcript, so could you maybe just read what is there and what you would like to change it to?


MR. PENSTONE:  The context concerned the investments related to the relocation of the cable and the CN right of way.  Yesterday I used the phrase: 

"In fact, that will not be considered sustainment capital."


The tense was wrong.  In reality, I should have said:  In fact, it was not considered in our sustainment capital plan.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Is that the extent of the correction you would like to make?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's the extent of the correction.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, two other matters arising from yesterday's testimony, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.  The first had to do with a discrepancy between information given in response to a Board Staff interrogatory and one given to AMPCO.  This was pointed out by Mr. Rodger in his examination of the witnesses.


This has to do with the age of transformer stations, I believe, Mr. Penstone.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You may not be the right person to answer this, but I understand that the company has over the evening checked its figures and you have an explanation for what occurred?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  Yesterday it was pointed out by AMPCO, and we concurred with them, that there was a discrepancy in the evidence that was provided in response to Board interrogatory or Staff Interrogatory J‑1‑20.  In particular, there was an error in the summary page that described the demographics of our breaker population.


We agreed with AMPCO that there was an error.  We subsequently investigated why the original summary was incorrect, and we understand the reason for the error, which we would like to present to the Board Panel.  


In particular, the figures that were used to produce the original evidence were shifted erroneously by one year, and a small population of air blast and SF6 breakers were not included in our original summary.


If you make that adjustment, the figures align -- the summary aligns with AMPCO's reconciliation of our data.  So, in fact, the information that we showed in the original evidence as 2003 should have been included in the 2004 column, and nine additional breakers added to it.


If you follow that pattern along that particular summary, you get the updated version, which we are intending to file.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  There are two things, Madam Chair.  First of all, I have a corrected and updated response to Ontario Energy Board Staff Interrogatory No. 20, which I would like to file.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  This contains the corrections that the witness explained.  Second, I can tell the Board that I believe that we will be filing another document.  We had a little problem with our printer this morning, but what we'll try to do is I think provide a table that graphically depicts what Mr. Penstone has explained with the corrected figures, so that you can follow it through.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  The comparison between the two.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  So I apologize for that error, but that how it occurred.


MR. RODGER:  Madam Chair, I just wondered -- that's a helpful clarification from Mr. Rogers.  I'm just wondering if I could ask one question about this, since it was our document, to make sure I understand the implication.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Penstone, if you can look at our exhibit again, Exhibit L1.4.


And go to page 2 and I'm looking at the circuit breakers 40 years and older.  So if I understand it now, what I should be comparing for 2003 column is 437 compared to 428, the number given in the Board Staff interrogatory; is that correct?  That would be the comparison?  So it's not 411 compared to 428.  It is 437 compared to 428.  I have shifted over one column to the right, on the AMPCO interrogatory line, by one year.


MS. NOWINA:  Your mike is not on, Mr. Penstone.  


MR. PENSTONE:  The figures that initially -- the column that you're referring to, can you just -- just so I make sure I'm looking at the right one. 


MR. RODGER:  What I believe the correct information now would be, when I look at the AMPCO interrogatory J-6-001, under the 2003 column, that number should not be 411, but if you shift over one year, the number should be 437.  So the comparison then for 2003 is 437 as compared to 428, the number that was provided in the Board Staff interrogatory.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So actually the AMPCO figures, the row for AMPCO is correct.  


MR. RODGER:  I see. 


MR. PENSTONE:  All right?  411 stays put in 2003.


MR. RODGER:  Yes. 


MR. PENSTONE:  437 stays put in 2004, and so forth.  In our particular case, if you look at the response to interrogatory J-1-20 which is on under 2003, it is 428 --  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  


MR. PENSTONE:  -- if we add -- move 428 into 2004, and add nine, you arrive at 437, which is equivalent to the AMPCO figure for that year.  


MR. RODGER:  I see.  


MR. PENSTONE:  That is the shift that I'm talking about, moving one year, and then accounting for a small population of breakers which we did not include in the original summary.  


MR. RODGER:  I see. 


MR. PENSTONE:  If you follow that pattern right along that particular row, shift right, add nine, you get -- you are able to reconcile our original summary with your figures.


That pattern changes in 2007, where, again, you shift right and you add 14, because the population of -- that small population is now increased.  So if you follow that pattern along, that explains the differences.  


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  


MR. ROGERS:  The document that I propose to file, once we get the equipment working properly, I think will graphically depict that, with the addition of these breakers that were inadvertently admitted as well, right?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MS. NOWINA:  Are you all right for now, Mr. Rodger?  Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Maybe just one final question then.  So with these numbers now revised, is the implication, then, that for all of these years across this graph, that basically 99 percent of this old equipment is still in service?  Or 96 percent?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, why are you suggesting 96 percent?  How did you arrive at that?  


MR. RODGER:  Well, that all of these numbers, for each of the years, are within -- are all captured within that graph, the figures 1, 2 and 3 that we talked about yesterday.


So the implication seems to be that those are still considered to be part of the cumulative asset base today.  They're just adding up over time.  They're not being removed from the envelope of assets, as it were.  


MR. PENSTONE:  These are in-service devices, yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, I think you can go ahead.  


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, yes.  One last thing.  Gentlemen, yesterday there was some discussion about some graphs that were depicting the age of cumulative transformer assets.  There was a little bit of confusion, I think, on the record.  Mr. Penstone, can you clarify for us, in fact I think it was Mr. Rupert that asked about whether he could be assured that if he drew a line through 1960, everything to the left would be in excess of, I think 40 years.  


Could you just -- I understand that you were concerned about that and you have checked to make sure of the facts.  Number 1.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct, Mr. Rogers.  Following yesterday or at least during yesterday's hearings, we in fact reconfirmed the information that was in these graphs.  


I would like to verify that the information that we gave was, in fact, accurate.  If you drew a line, a vertical line anywhere on these graphs, the number of assets to the left of that line are at least as old as the corresponding year that is shown on the X axis.  


Now, I would like to also take this opportunity to provide some additional clarification, in terms of the raw data that is shown on the left-hand side of that page.  


There is information there, especially when it refers to the cumulative transformer asset base.  


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Penstone, maybe you could give us the exhibit reference so we have that in the transcript.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly.  The exhibit reference is 

J-6-1.  


MR. ROGERS:  001.


MR. BUONAGURO: I actually put that up on the screen. 


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I know, but I wanted it on the transcript, Mr. Buonaguro.  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Penstone.


MR. PENSTONE:  Actually, could I ask you to just slide that down?  It would help me explain or make the point that I'm trying to make.  Just a little bit further.  Right.  Okay.


If you look in the -- on the table, which shows the raw data, it has "Cumulative Transformer Asset Base."  And it shows that from 1906 all the way to 1928, a number of five transformers.


For the purposes of this particular database, we could not ascertain the specific age of five transformers.  We knew that they were in the 1920s vintage.  So to highlight the fact that it was, the age was indeterminant, they basically assigned it an age of being placed in service in 1906.


So I just wanted to pre-empt any questions along the lines of:  Do you really have transformers that are still in service from 1906?  The answer to that is "no". 


For the purposes of this database, that was a figure 

-- an age that was assigned to these assets that we could not establish their actual age. 


MR. RODGER:  All right.  Thank you.  So with that caveat, then, what you said about the interpretation of the graphs is correct?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you very much.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Can we just take a moment?


MR. RODGER:  Madam Chair, sorry to interrupt again.  I'm wondering -- This also stemmed, I think, from part of our questions.  I wonder if I can be permitted to ask one clarifying question again, please, on this new information. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Rodger. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER: 


MR. RODGER:  I think you have identified part of the problems that we've had, Mr. Penstone, around this issue.  


If you go to this interrogatory response.  This is AMPCO's exhibit J, tab 6, schedule 1, where you have provided this breakdown of the cumulative total year by year as you just described.  


You've got two pages attached to the interrogatory response. One shows a total at the end of 2005 and the next page shows a total by the end of 2002.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  


MR. RODGER:  If I go down any given year on that list of assets, the numbers are identical.  Right?  For example, if you if to 1952, you will see the number for cumulative circuit breaker asset base is 150.  If you go to the 2002 column, and again go to 1952, you will see the identical number.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.


MR. RODGER:  That's what was throwing us off.  The implication seems to be that none of this has been replaced over the whole life of ‑‑ since 1906.  That's why we were struggling with how this relates to the figures 1, 2 and 3.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  I understand how your confusion can exist here.


What I want to clarify is that the charts that are shown for 2002, these are charts that were not actually in existence in 2002.  This database gets updated regularly and it does not -- you know, we don't take a snapshot in 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005.


So to create the graphs that are shown as 2002, we use the same data and simply cut it off from the data that was used to create the 2005 data, and that's perhaps the source of - as you were saying, Mr. Rodger - your confusion here.


MR. RODGER:  So just to go to Mr. Rupert's question of yesterday.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rodger, is your mike is off?


MR. RODGER:  Just to return to Mr. Rupert's question of yesterday, you draw that line down ‑‑ it's 1960 and look to the left of that line.  Those assets, they may be 40 years old, but they could have been replaced or refurbished or updated over that time; is that correct?  They're not just all as-is original condition, 40 years old?


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  If you had an asset that was placed in service in 1930, say, and we took it out of service and refurbished it, and then returned it to service in 1940, this graph would have done -- two things would have occurred.  When you took it out of service it would have been removed from the database as a 1920s asset.


When it was returned to service in 1940, it would have been included in the database and shown as a 1940s asset to reflect the fact that it had been refurbished.


MR. RODGER:  Okay, thank you very much.


MR. RUPERT:  Just one additional clarifying question, then.


The charts for 2005 give you a snapshot as of the date that this was done.  Whatever the database at that date was the basis for these charts.  As you explained, the other charts you did in 2002 really aren't 2002 charts, in the sense that it wasn't ‑‑ you weren't able to go back and identify what the database would have looked like back in 2002?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  So if I look at 2005, that gives me the view of the then existing asset base, but that doesn't tell me at all, does it, whether the assets are getting generally older, whether there is an aging problem.  It just gives me the statistics as of a date.  


It doesn't tell me whether this is better or worse than it might have been five years ago, ten years ago, 15 years ago.  I can't tell that from this graph, can I?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  In fact, the data used to generate these graphs are the data that exists today.  It was not the data that existed in 2005.  That's today's data.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that answers my question, but just to be clear, if I look at Exhibit J-6‑001, attachment A, page 1 of 1, and I look at the cumulative transformer asset base, and for simplicity I look at 1960, what I can discern from this graph is no more and no less, that there were 400 transformers in service in 1960; correct?  That's what I can discern from this graph?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. PENSTONE:  You are correct, and those transformers remain in service today.  So there were 400 transformers on our system that were placed in service prior to 1960 which continue to be in service today.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But I thought you told me that if one was replaced, it would come out, and then the new one would come in.  So it's not those 400 transformers that are necessarily in service, because you may have taken one of those out of service and replaced it with a new one in 1962.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  And if I had replaced it in 1962, it would be shown as being placed in service in 1962, but it would have been removed from the database to begin with.


So I have a transformer that's in service in 1960.  I remove it.  The database goes down by one for 1960.  I return it into service in 1962.  The 1962 figure increases by one.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  I'm going to have to think about that answer, because I'm not sure exactly what that means to me, in terms of using this graph to make any ‑‑ to draw any conclusions about the age of any of these objects.


MR. JAKOB:  The entire graph, as assets are replaced and they are removed, the old ones will eventually start to migrate towards the right, if you will.


MR. PENSTONE:  So, for example, if we moved ahead 20 years from now, and over the course of the 20 years we replaced all the transformers that were installed prior to 1960, the graph would show no assets to the left of 1960, because we've removed them and we would have increased the number of assets that were placed in service between now and 20 years hence.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to try one, as well, Mr. Penstone.


If you take any one ‑‑ let's use the 2005 graph.  If we take 2005, does this graph tell me for -- let's say, the cumulative transmission lines asset base.  Does this graph tell me that in 2005 there were a total of 29,000 circuit kilometres?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And in 2090, there was a total of -- no.  Mr. Rupert is telling me no.  I will ask you the question.


In 1990, there would be a total of 27 or something like that.  There would have been.  Is the answer to that question yes or no?  It should be:  Is it yes or no, and there is a part B to that question.


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  No.  Okay.


Then is it that of the 29,000 that are in service in 2005, 27,000 of those are ‑‑ were in service before 1990 and the remaining 2000, whatever the variance is in that graph, came in service in the intervening years?


MR. PENSTONE:  It's telling you that you have 29,000 circuit kilometres today.  Of that 29,000 circuit kilometres, in 1990, say, there was 28,000 ‑‑ of today's assets, 28,500 of them would have been placed in service prior to 1990.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you.  Those are our questions on that.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Thank you very much.  The witnesses are now available to complete their cross‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  That's the end of your preliminary matters?  They weren't that preliminary, were they, Mr. Rogers?  Mr. Buonaguro.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I had questions on that.  I would be very frightened to ask them now.


I think I understand.  I think we're going to leave it, so I will close this exhibit.  


The one small question I have remaining.  You have included in the one -- in the analysis at J-1-20 information relating to units that are less than 115 kilovolts.  We're just curious to know why those assets are considered part of the transmission system if they're operating at less than 115 kV.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  If you look at J-1-20, at pages 8 and 9.  You have included less than 115 kV. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Information.  And we're curious, I guess our assumption is that anything less than 115 would be part of the distribution system.  So maybe I'm wrong.  Perhaps you can tell me why they're included in this graph, in this case.


MR. PENSTONE:  There are...


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PENSTONE:  Those represent the -- within the customer supply station, you have the step-down transformers, and then you have the feeder breakers to which Hydro One owns.  Those feeder breakers are considered to be transmission assets.  So they’re less than 115 kV because they have been transformed.


And that generally forms the interface with the distribution network.  That's the interface point.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I would like to turn to your OM&A escalation rates as a topic.  It was touched on yesterday by Board Staff, and, in particular, I would like to start with J-1-21, which suggests that the escalation rate for labour that you used was three percent per year.  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But if I look at another reference from your filing, A-13-2, and I look at page 4, it's a table here using adjustment factors.  If you look at the cost escalators, percentage column and you look under labour, you used a percentage of four percent.  Sorry, the simple question is, why the two figures and could you reconcile that for us.  


MR. RODGER:  If you're not comfortable with the screen, get the document.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm using the PDF files that were sent out to the intervenors, at least, and you can partially track the information at the top of the screen where it says tab 13, schedule 2.  If you are trying to find out what I'm looking at, the problem is you don't have the initial letter reference in the file name.  This particular one is A-13-2, and it's page 4.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  A-13 -- what we did in J-1-21 is just look at what I’d call collective agreement labour escalations which said typically, for instance, the PW increase was three percent per year, or the Society increase was three percent per year, and I tried to reflect that in this pure escalation.  


In A-13-2, what we tried to do is look at the total costs of how labour is escalating.  So labour would escalate for a number of different reasons.  One is the collective agreement.  In addition there's some performance pay in there, for instance in our collective agreements on the Society side, there is a one percent performance pay increase built into that.  That is increasing our, some of our labour costs.  However I didn't deal that with pure escalation in A-12 -- sorry in J-1-21.


So the cost escalation in A-13-2 is broader than just a pure escalation.  


MR. BUONAGURO: So, as I understand it, the one I'm showing on the screen now from A-13-2 is the one you actually used in your filing?  The four percent?


MR. CARLETON:  That is the one that would have been used in the adjustment mechanism.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But the -- and the J-1-21, three percent is, you didn't actually use that.  You're not applying for anything based on a three percent labour rate, right?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's what we did, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, again with J-1-21, and this was touched on yesterday, you discuss an overall OM&A escalation of 52 percent labour, split between 52 percent labour and 48 percent non-labour, where the non-labour is assumed to escalate CPI.  But then, in the original filing, A-13-2 and in this case I'm looking at page 2, footnote 3, the weighting is different.  You've got 13 percent transmission OM&A, 68 percent labour, 19 percent CPI.  


My first question, first of all if can you explain to me what it means when you say transmission OM&A.  How does that fit?


MR. CARLETON:  This is A-14 -- A-13-2 again?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  It’s A-13-2, page 2 -- sorry, is it page 4?


It is page 2 of 4, and it's footnote number 3, which breaks out the weighting factors, and you concluded 13 percent weighted towards transmission OM&A.  


MR. CARLETON:  Just give me a second.  It looks to me, and I would like a chance to confirm this, but it looks to me, the allocation there is on sustainment development operations.  So it looks that the OM&A -- the mix for the SD&O component of total OM&A is 68 percent versus, if I look at total OM&A, which would include CFNS, which would include income tax, property taxes, overall that ratio would reduce to 52 percent labour, versus SD&O, which is 68 percent labour.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But perhaps my initial question is a little simpler.  What did you mean by transmission OM&A?  


MR. CARLETON:  Transmission OM&A would be our total OM&A revenue requirement of 394. -- so total OM&A is all of sustainment development operations, shared services, property taxes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It just seems that you have broken out 68 percent for labour and you've broken out 19 percent for CPI.  But you have this remaining 13 percent called transmission OM&A, which presumably -- 


MR. CARLETON:  Sorry.  I'm confused.  Let me read the note again.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. CARLETON:  Oh, sorry.  That would just be the -- what's left over after labour.  I'm going to have to get back to you on that.  It looks like labour, material and other.  I'm not sure what's -- the reference to transmission OM&A is other or material.  And CPI is labour or other, but that's what it is.  It's labour, material and other.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you want to give me an undertaking?


MR. CARLETON:  I will get back to you right after the break.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  The answer is yes.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So we will give it an undertaking number, then, K2.1, and could you just please restate the undertaking for the record?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  With respect to the reference in filing A, tab 13, schedule 2, page 2 of 4, footnote number 3, there is a reference to transmission OM&A, and the undertaking is to provide a fulsome description of what that includes.


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.1:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF 


TRANSMISSION OM&A FOUND IN EXHIBIT A, TAB 13, SCHEDULE 


2, PAGE 2 OF 4, FOOTNOTE 3.

MR. CARLETON:  That's fine.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in the original application at C1, tab 2, schedule 2, at page 7, lines 9 to 12, there is a reference to an overall escalation factor of 12.7, and I believe that was referred to yesterday for the 2003 period.


MR. CARLETON:  Sorry, what was the question?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just confirming.  The first part in the original filing talks about an overall escalation of 12.7 percent, but, again, if I go to this ‑‑ if I go to 

A-13-2, the reference we were just talking about, and I go to the table on page 4 and I look at the composite cost escalator at row 4 and look at the total escalation here, this appears to have a total escalation which would be in excess of 18 percent; 3.55, plus 3.92, plus 3.30, plus 3.24, plus 3.27, and I think you compound it.  The total escalation would be something in the order of 18 percent, I think.


I just ask if you could reconcile those two references.  In this case, they're both from the original filing.


MR. CARLETON:  I will reconcile those two, but as I sit here, I can't reconcile them.  First of all, we know the labour they used isn't just the ‑‑ isn't just the pure collective agreement increase.  It's a total labour increase, including performance pay, for example, for Society staff.  So it's 4 percent rather than 3 percent.  That will drive it about 4 percent higher or...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. CARLETON:  Four or 5 percent higher.  I suspect it is because of that, but I can confirm that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I guess that will be a second undertaking to reconcile the two numbers.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will do that.


MS. LEA:  K 2.2, reconciliation.


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.2:  TO PROVIDE A RECONCILIATION 


OF ESCALATION FACTORS IN EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 


2, PAGE 7, LINES 9 TO 11 AND EXHIBIT A-13-2, PAGE 4, 


TABLE ROW 4


MR. BUONAGURO:  Moving along.  At J‑1-22 you have set out outage numbers.  Again, this was spoken to a little bit yesterday, and you have given us the information for 2005.  I believe there was some reference to the 2006 numbers in the discussion yesterday.


Just simply put, we would like, if possible, to get the update to include the 2006 numbers, all of these tables.


MS. NOWINA:  Is the 2006 data available?


MR. CARLETON:  We will just see what we have.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, just for this one chart or...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, this is an example I put up on the screen, but if you look at the response, there are a number of charts.  There's 230 kV circuit breakers, 230 kV transformers.  Basically, update this particular exhibit to include the 2006 data.


MR. CARLETON:  We will take that undertaking, subject to ‑‑ I know we've done a high-level analysis.  The question is:  Have we got the detailed breakdown?  And we will confirm whether that is available or not.  I know we're in the process of doing it for our business planning process.


MS. LEA:  K2.3.


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.3:  TO UPDATE J-1-22 TO INCLUDE 


2006 DATA.

MS. LEA:  That was to provide the 2006 numbers, if available.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Added to the response at J‑1-22.  Now, we talked about -- or, sorry, we know that there are in addition to these 230 -- these are all 230 kV numbers that you have included in this particular response.


And there are 115 kV stations and breakers, as well; right?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO: All right.  Could we get the same information for those from 2001 to 2006, assuming you can get 2006?


MR. ROGERS:  I suppose ‑‑ this is the kind of thing that interrogatories are designed for, but is that readily available, gentlemen?


MR. JAKOB:  We'd have to go back and look.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I take it under advisement, Madam Chair?  I just don't know what is involved, the work involved in getting this information.  If it is readily available, we will provide it.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, I assume you didn't ask for this earlier because you weren't aware that 2006 data might be available?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, this is a response that they gave to ‑‑ I have the actual interrogatory up and this is how they responded to a particular question from Board Staff, by illustrating their outage rates for the 230.  They haven't included in their response the 115, which we assume would also be relevant, and the 2006, obviously they didn't include it.  They didn't have the time.  


Now they're saying they have it or they may have it, so they're going to look.  But in terms of the difference between the 230 and 115, we have noticed that when they responded, they didn't give us the 115, so we would like to see the 115 to see if it changes how we view the response to this particular interrogatory.  


I don't think anybody asked for the outage rates initially in the IR, but because they brought it forward as a response to an interrogatory to justify their position on the issue, we would like to get what we think would be the more fulsome information, which would include the 115 kV information.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, the applicant just answered the questions, the interrogatories, and that's what they've done.  But, look, I don't want to make a major case out of this.  It is just that this really ought to have been done earlier, but can I take it under advisement?  If it is readily available, I will produce it.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Rogers.  K2.4, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes, K2.4, thank you.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.4:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED 115 kV 


INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO J-1-22

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's with respect to J‑1-22, to provide the same information for their 115 kV breakers and stations that they provided for their 230 kV transformers and stations, and, if possible, extend it to 2006 pursuant to the earlier undertaking.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am actually moving on to a new topic.  I'm looking at C‑1-22, page 10, which talks about various areas of OM&A.  And, in particular, I'm looking at the increase in the 2006 protection, control, monitoring and metering equipment maintenance numbers.  What I have on the screen here is the updated, which says 21.2 million for 2006.


I can pull it up, but maybe you can take it subject to check that the original had a forecast for 2006 of $19.4 million.  So there is an increase between the original filing and the updated filing for 2006.


Could you explain what caused the increase of approximately $0.8 million or $1.8 million?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The actual is higher due to an increase in the corrective work that was necessary, resulting -- due to a higher-than-expected number of failures.  


MR. BUONAGURO: Do you have an explanation for why the failure rate was higher than expected?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I guess perhaps the best way of describing this is, within our asset condition assessment for this type of device, that we have a number of devices that are considered to be in poor or very poor condition.  


As a result of being in poor or very poor condition, their failure rates are increasing.  Because they're in poor condition, they're failing.  And because they're failing we have to go and do corrective maintenance.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, according to J-1-24 - and this interrogatory would have been asked based on the previous, the original filing - the increase from 2006 to 2007 was originally supposed to be about $4 million, and you attributed 1.4 million to cost escalations.  That is what the interrogatory response says.  Then you list three other reasons:  the first, the need for the asset condition assessments; the second, populating data into a new system; and third, I guess, implementing a program to modify protection settings to comply with the new NERC's requirements.  


With respect to the asset condition assessment, can you tell me what the budget is for that for 2007/2008, broken down between the two years?


MR. JAKOB:  I have the figure for 2007 and it consists of a total of $2.2 million.  The majority of that increase is due to the three items as noted.  $0.9 million is for the asset condition assessment of cabling, control bench boards, current transformers in DC systems.  0.75 million is to populate the database, and $0.3 million is for the NERC protection settings and the under-frequency load shedding changes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  That was for 2007 for those three items?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And what do you have for 2008?  Let me get at it another way.  The third part, the program to modify protection settings, will that be completed in 2007 or does it carry over to 2008?  


MR. JAKOB:  I'll have to get back to you on that one.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Do we want to wrap this into one big undertaking for all three areas?  Basically, what are the budgets for the three areas for 2008?  


MR. RODGER:  That information is available, I take it?  


MR. JAKOB:  I just wanted to understand exactly what you're asking.  I answered the 2007 portion.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right. 


MR. JAKOB:  The way I understand the question, you're wanting to know if those items that I just spoke of also carry-over into 2008, and if so, what is the budget in the 2008 period?


MR. BUONAGURO:  That would capture it.  That would capture it, yes.  And then I guess the last part of that would be, are any of these three carrying over past 2008.  


I understand they probably are not, but... So the 2008 budgets for those three items, if there is one.  If not, you can just say they won't carry on past 2007.  Then if they do carry on into 2008, do they carry on past that or are they anticipated to be complete by 2008?  


MR. RODGER:  Can that be done, gentlemen, with reasonable effort?  


Then we will make the undertaking.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do we have an undertaking number for that?


MS. LEA:  K2.5.


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.5:  2007/2008 BUDGET FOR ASSET 


CONDITION ASSESSMENT


MS. NOWINA:  I didn't hear a response from the witness panel about the reasonableness of the undertaking.  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, thank you.  


MR. BUONAGURO: I was just asking for the number, that's all. 


MS. LEA:  I’m sorry, I didn't hear an agreement to give the undertaking. 


MS. NOWINA:  That's what I was waiting for as well, Ms. Lea.  


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you very much.  


MS. NOWINA:  K2.5?  


MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I'm moving on to another topic.  And, in particular, I pulled up -- I forgot that you guys can see exactly what I'm doing on my computer as I'm doing it so I have to be a little careful.  I want you to see this.  I'm not looking at my e-mail or anything like that.  


This is J-1-26, an interrogatory response with respect to leased fibre.  It talks about -- or I'm interested insofar as the answer relates to leased fibre.  And I guess to summarize the response, which is on the screen, we talk about reducing the number of leased circuits that you use in, as a way to capture cost savings.  I guess the simple question is:  Is there any foreseeable savings in 2007 and 2008 related to this sort of activity that you might be able to capture?


MR. JAKOB:  Can you repeat the question, specifically what you're looking for?  Is it the savings in 2007 and 2008?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  Well, we wanted to know if there are any -- do you see any other opportunities that haven't been captured in the filing for 2007 and 2008?


MR. JAKOB:  No.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  No?  How about beyond 2008?  Future years.


MR. JAKOB:  I can't comment on that.  It's beyond the scope of the filing.  But my best estimation would be that we would see some continued savings, because as we continue to migrate off of leased circuits from other suppliers such as Bell Canada, for example, wherever we can migrate on to the fibre network, we would incur some savings.  So that migration continues.  So I would expect so, but I couldn't quantify it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So at least in theory there are other opportunities that can be exploited, you just can't quantify it right now?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO: Okay, thank you.  That's good enough.  


Now, I want to touch on the ancillary system maintenance cost, which you discussed briefly yesterday as well.  And on this I'm looking at C-1-22 again.  


It looks like the increase in the system is about 50 percent -- between 2006 and 2007, the increase, I think, is $4.8 million and I think you touched on this.  As I understand it you have new requirements that you have to meet.  Right?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if I look at J-5‑33, which talks about these requirements ‑‑ sorry, C‑1-22, page 23.  I'm on my own computer here, so bear with me a little bit.


If I go to page 23 of C‑1, tab 2, schedule 2.


MR. ROGERS:  Take your time and turn it up on your documents, if you like, to be sure it is in context.


MR. BUONAGURO:  This lists a number of reasons for the overall increase in costs.  Now, for three of these four reasons, I understand there are new requirements that are being posed, including the NPCC requirements.  And the only non‑new requirement, I guess, would be the last one; is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, can you tell me, of the $4.8 million increase between 2006 and 2007, how much are attributable to this new requirement?  And I guess the conclusion might be the rest might be related to this fourth requirement of aging and vintage problems?


MR. JAKOB:  So if I understand the question correctly, for the first three bullets you're looking at the costs in 2007 and 2008; is that the question?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you're saying that -- let me put it this way.


The filing says that you're increasing the costs in this category by $4.8 million between 2006 and 2007.  The filing and interrogatory response at J-5‑33, which I will pull up, confirms that the first three factors that we outline there are new requirements and they're one-time increases.  


So of the 4.8 million, three of the four reasons you're spending an extra 4.8 million in 2007 is for one‑time new requirements.  So I just want to see how much of that 4.8 million is attributable to one-time new requirements.


MR. JAKOB:  They're not one-time requirements.  They are ongoing requirements.  They did start, for us, in 2007.  They do continue.


For example, NPCC, the first bullet, in 2007 that represents a quarter of a million dollars, but in subsequent years it represents $100,000.  So 2008 would be 100,000.  2007 would be 250,000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. JAKOB:  Okay?  The second bullet that refers to the NPCC requirements, which was corrected yesterday to say TSSA by Mr. Penstone, that represents $250,000 in 2007 and 2008.  And the standby generators, the third bullet, is $400,000 in 2007 and 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is that $400,000 which will continue?  Is that a per year, like, maintenance cost or is that in the next two years you're installing new generators and it costs you $400,000 per year?


MR. JAKOB:  This is ongoing OM&A maintenance in subsequent years.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So 400, something along that line?


MR. JAKOB:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, does part of this program include installing even more generators, so beyond 2008, or to meet the requirements are you ‑‑ you will meet the requirements in the next two years?


MR. JAKOB:  This is OM&A requirements only, so the installation of new generators would not show up as OM&A.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, but if you were ‑‑ let's say that the requirement ‑‑ I'm assuming that -- my assumption is that you've met the requirement or you are about to meet the requirement and that your OM&A relates to that $400,000.


Now, if you've only half met the requirement and have to install another, I think double your generators, then presumably your OM&A would go up.


MR. JAKOB:  Of course.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to make sure that is not happening.


MR. JAKOB:  If we install more generators, we would have to maintain them and the costs would go up.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But are there any plans like that to install new generators?


MR. JAKOB:  Beyond 2008?  I can't comment beyond 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you can confirm that you've met the current requirements?


MR. JAKOB:  Meeting the current requirements with what we indicate in 2007 and 2008, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


Now, moving on to bush control and line clearing, which again was mentioned ‑‑ is it brush control or bush control?


MR. PENSTONE:  Brush.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Brush.  Okay, thanks.  I won't make that mistake again.  Brush control.  I'm looking at C‑1-22 again, and page 28.  Again, this is the updated -- this is the updated information, then.  For people who are looking, you can tell that by the black line down the side, that that is the updated information.


I am looking at the brush control, which says 13.8.  In the original filing, it was $2.2 million less.  Hopefully you can take that subject to check.  So it increased between your filing and the actual, the actual which was filed in February.


I just wanted to get an explanation of why there was this extra $2.2 million spent beyond what you planned for.


MR. PENSTONE:  In 2006, you may recollect that we had a number of severe storms, and these severe storms had an impact on our planned brush control programs.


During ‑‑ following the storms, we deployed staff to enable and assist in the restoration.  These staff would normally have been involved in the conventional brush clearing, and instead they were redeployed to areas where the storms had hit.


As a result of that, the helicopters that would normally have been used by these crews to do brush clearing were not available to them, and because they couldn't get access to the rights of way through helicopters in the summer periods, they then had to go and do the brush control later in the season. 


And later in the season, you couldn't use the normal foliage application herbicides.  They're not effective later in the season, and they had to resort to more manual means of clearing the brush and that caused the costs to go up.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I see in this chart that the 2007 requested is lower than the actual of 2006, but as I recall, it's about 10 percent higher than the original filing.  Sorry, I don't have the number handy. 


MR. JAKOB:  Is that for brush control?


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's for brush control.


MR. JAKOB:  The brush control number appears to be the same in 2007 as the original filing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that, but it's -- in terms of its relationship to the 2006, it's escalated from 2006 by about 10 percent from the file, not from this table.  This table has the actual for 2006 and you have explained why that was unusually high for that year.


So I want to go back to what the filed was for 2006, and you have increased it by 10 percent for 2007.  I just want to understand why.  


By my math, the original filing would have been 11.6 million. 


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PENSTONE:  When we produced the original submission, the 11.6 was an estimate of the work that was going to be accomplished in 2006, based on the information that we had a year ago, roughly April of 2006.  


As it turned out, the actual costs were higher than that, and the accomplishments were greater than what we expected when the evidence was first prepared.  


To answer your question, if you refer back to 2005, where we've -- the historic expenditure in brush control was 12.5 million.  We're planning to spend 12.8 million in '07.  The increase between the two is basically largely attributed to labour escalations.  There is some variability in terms of -- depending on where you're clearing the brush, it may require more intensive efforts in parts of a right-of-way or parts of the province than others.  But predominantly, the increase, 2007 over 2005, is labour-driven.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  You mentioned that your accomplishments were greater in 2006.  Perhaps I can ask a follow-up question to that.


You spent an extra 2.2 million because of the storms and such in 2006.  And you mentioned, again, the accomplishments were greater.  Could that have an impact on what you need to do in 2007?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. JAKOB:  Are you asking if there's carry-over from 2006, work that wasn't accomplished that now shows up in the 2007?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, no, no, no, no, it's actually quite the opposite.  You were forced to spend an extra 2.2 million to do more than anticipated clearing in 2006, for various reasons which you have already explained.  


My question is, does that impact in 2007?  If you've already spent an extra 2.2 million, in 2006, could that lower your need in 2007?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The answer to that is "no".  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can I get a little explanation for that?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The primary reason that costs were higher than expected in 2006 was, as I mentioned, they had to spend more effort.  


They accomplished the work that they -- well, the work program.  The extent to which there was some unaccomplished work that has to be carried over in 2007, I can't comment on that right now.  But in terms of, sort of, my comment about accomplishing more than expected, it was in the context of when the storms came through, would we be able to actually do what we had planned to do in 2006, recognizing that we had lost these opportunities that we would normally be using the staff under normal maintenance circumstances.


As it turned out, they were able to sort of -- at higher cost - albeit at higher cost - accomplish more work than was expected, considering the fact that they were taken off the job.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.  Thank you.  


I'm going to move on to a response that you gave to Schools on Ontario One Call Service.  This is J-7-12.  You were asked about the One Call Service, and your answer which I put on the screen basically says that they changed the way that they charge you.  They implemented their regular rate structure and that increased the total costs by $0.4 million.  


Can you tell me what the total costs were?  Sorry.  The 0.4 million I understand is incremental to your existing costs, is that correct?  It says:  

"...has resulted in an increase in cost of about $0.4 million per year to Hydro One's cable locate service."  

So that is an incremental increase to what you were already paying. 


MR. PENSTONE:  The reference to about, at the bottom of the response in section C, an increase in costs of about 400,000 per year; in reality, it's closer to 350,000 per year.  So it's 40,000 initially.  Our new charges are going to be 400,000.  So, 350.  


MR. BUONAGURO: Okay.  All right.  So now the total --you're telling me the total yearly charge is about $400,000, then?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that for both 2007, 2008?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PENSTONE:  We forecast 400,000 for both years.  The actual cost will depend on the number of calls that are handled by Ontario One Call.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  That answers my follow-up question which is the cost driver.  It is per call?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  The fee schedule that Ontario One Call has developed is consistent for all utilities or, you know, gas companies, Bell Canada, ourselves, whoever subscribed to that service.  They get charged a per-call fee that is consistent across all users.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, before you go on, I think the number you were looking at there was $400,000.  I would ask you to stop and think about materiality before we get into a number of questions.  Now, it may be that you're trying to look at a larger issue and using a small example, but if you could stop and think about that, I would appreciate it. 


MR. BUONAGURO: I appreciate that.  I mean, when I asked the question, I didn't know what the total cost was, so it turns out that that is the total cost.  Also I now understand how it could or maybe wouldn't vary over time.  So I understand, though.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have about four -- I'm switching to sustaining capital, and I have about four smallish areas to cover.  I don't know if it would be a good time for the break and then wrap it up, or would you like to finish?


MS. NOWINA:  How much longer do you think that would take, Mr. Buonaguro?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe 15 minutes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we finish and then we will have a late break and a late lunch?


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  My first question actually is just, I assume is going to be some confirming questions about your asset condition assessment studies and the timing.  Perhaps I will try to speed through it and you can tell me if you need references.  


I understand that the current asset condition assessment was completed in 2006, August 2006.  Yes?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  And previous one was completed in about March of 2003?


MR. JAKOB:  I believe 2003.  Close enough.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, I think I -- okay.


And the next one, if the timing stays consistent, would presumably be completed in around 2009, sometime in 2009?


MR. JAKOB:  We haven't made that decision, really.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that a fair sort of ‑‑ well, I guess you haven't made ‑‑ I don't want ‑‑


MR. JAKOB:  It could be.  It could be.  We could assume that.  We really haven't planned for it at this moment, but, as time goes by, as we do our business planning, indeed we may.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of timing, does it take around ‑‑ how long does it take to do one from start to finish?


MR. JAKOB:  Probably I'll say -- from the release of an RFP, you mean, until it is actually ‑‑ we have a completed report?  Is that what you're after?


MR. BUONAGURO:  That would certainly be part of it, yes.


MR. JAKOB:  I would say in the neighbourhood of four or five months.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, the current asset condition assessment, which was completed in around August of 2006, presumably was ‑‑ didn't have any impact on your plans for 2006?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. JAKOB:  Can you repeat the question again?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm assuming that because the ‑‑ sorry, the last one, which was completed 2006, August 2006, and from your earlier answer you told me it takes about four to five months to complete, so presumably it started approximately January of 2006 or so.  It didn't actually impact your plans for 2006, so what you did in 2006 wasn't informed by the 2006 ACA.  It was informed presumably, if at all, by the previous 2003 plan.


MR. JAKOB:  Well, okay.  Let's be clear about the ACA that we speak of, the one that ‑- the formal asset condition assessment that is done by an external party, a consultant to us.  That represents one piece of information about our assets.


So do we use the information that's contained within?  Yes, but the source information from that asset condition assessment does reside in different parts within the organization.  So we don't necessarily wait all the time until we have the completed final report.  We do have information available as we work with our consultant.  We do have information early on.  We do have information from our own data sources and our own performance information when we make decisions on the planning of our business ‑‑ of our work.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We decided to cut some of our stuff, so we can be finished now.  Those are my questions, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Rogers, I think we can complete this panel, then, before our break.  Would you like to do your re‑examination?


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, yes.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you know how long yours will take?


MR. ROGERS:  Five minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  First of all, just dealing with that last question.  You were conferring after the questioner ceased.  Is there anything else you would like to add to your answer or is it a complete answer?


MR. PENSTONE:  Just to clarify or elaborate a little bit on the point that Mr. Jakob made, and that is that the information that is used by Hatch Acres to develop the asset condition assessment and derive the healthy indices within that assessment, that information is already available to our planners.


So our planners had much of that information in their possession or available to them when they were developing the plans.


Hatch Acres used the same information to derive the health indices in their asset condition assessment.  So it is not as though we lost an entire opportunity because the final report was not issued until August of 2006.


We were using much of the same data and information ourselves to develop these plans.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Now, just changing topics entirely, I have one area of enquiry.  And I think probably this is for you, Mr. Carleton.  


You may recall that Mr. DeVellis, on behalf of the School Energy Coalition, or Schools, presented a couple of tables to you which he had compiled, I think marked as Exhibit L1.1 and L1.3, but I think L1.1 we can probably use.


Now, this is entitled "Hydro One Transmission OM&A Overview", and as Mr. DeVellis explained, he's extracted data from various sources and made some calculations and so on.


Now, just very generally speaking, Mr. Carleton, have you had a chance now to look at this Exhibit L1.1?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I went through L1.1 to try to confirm the data and the calculations.  I did ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry.


MR. CARLETON:  I did confirm columns 1 through 7 are consistent with our rate filing.  I also went through all of the calculations for column 13, which looks at the 2008 over 2003 increase, and those calculations are all correct.


I would like to point out, though, that recognizing that what's in column 13, for instance, the 37.4 percent increase in SD&O and the 5.6 percent increase in total OM&A, incorporated in those increases is the impact of cost escalation which we've talked about a number of times, which we had indicated was 12.7 percent.


And there was some discussion yesterday morning that that may well be under-estimated and to use Power Planner would have been about 18 percent.


The other point I would like to make is that in 2008 we have pension costs of about 6.7 percent of total OM&A, which wasn't in our 2003.


So just recognize that those escalations include our escalation, as well as some change in scope.


As to the columns 8 through 12, once again, I didn't check every number, but I checked some reference totals.  They generally look correct.  However, on line 63, 64 and 65, there are some -- there must be some cell errors in Mr. DeVellis's calculation, so you may need to relook at those.


MR. ROGERS:  In fairness, Mr. DeVellis spoke to me this morning about that, as a matter of fact, and he is aware of those now.


MR. CARLETON:  Okay, so those should be corrected.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The corrections you are speaking about have to do with the development and operations portion of the table.


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I had planned to introduce a new or just replace this exhibit with the corrected.  There was just a problem with three of the cells.


MR. CARLETON:  That's fine.  I also checked L1.3 and that generally looked correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Generally, my question is this:  How useful is this analysis to someone who is trying to be objective in assessing the company's position?


MR. CARLETON:  Well, I think a point of our revenue requirement is our OM&A is based on what our assets need, risk to the system, risk to our customers, and this is what we need.  I think Mr. Penstone has gone through our planning process and prioritization, and this is the minimum risk that we think is acceptable to our company.  


And it not necessarily based on a simple year-over-year escalation.


MR. ROGERS:  You have mentioned earlier that two factors, two factors which -- there may be others, but two factors that need to be taken into account are the escalation, which aren't shown here, and the pension cost impact, which the Board heard a great deal of evidence about last case.


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Rupert.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  Just four questions, panel.  The first one is back to the charts on aging.  We don't have to pull the charts out.  I understand the charts.


What I'm trying to get at is this.  Yesterday we heard a lot about asset aging, and there is a lot of material in your evidence about asset aging.


I'm trying to find some actual evidence that indicates that the asset age on average, if you will, or some measure of it, is worse today, that the assets are older today than they were five years, ten years, 15 years ago.  I think we established earlier, we can't take that from those charts, those cumulative charts.  Is there something in your evidence that indicates this really is, the current portfolio of assets is considerably more -- considerably older now than it was five, ten, 15 years ago, hence this serious problem, to spend money for an aging asset base?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PENSTONE:  To answer your question, there was an interrogatory filed by VECC, Interrogatory J-5-14, which asked us essentially the same or an equivalent question, that we had made the statement that the average age of Hydro One's transmission assets increased 17 percent; please provide the analysis.


The analysis that was provided, it was a 

spreadsheet -- 


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RUPERT:  I haven't studied this myself, so maybe we should just, we can move on a bit. 


I have one other question on this before we head on.  I think you said earlier, Mr. Penstone, that it was not a database.  You do not have the sort of snapshots of the assets at various dates in the past, but you had to use the current database.  


Is this spreadsheet attached to this interrogatory, where it refers to December 31, 2000 data, is that -- do I take that to be, you know, a determination based on the actual assets at December 31st, 2000, i.e. it was a snapshot, if you will, at that date?  It is not just using the current data, but it’s actually based on an analysis at that date?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I can't answer that question with certainty.  I will undertake to clarify that for you.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  That would be good.  Good.  


MS. LEA:  That will be K2.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.6:  TO CONFIRM ANALYTICAL BASIS 


FOR SPREADSHEET ATTACHMENT TO J-5-14


MR. ROGERS:  I would like to expand the undertaking, if I could.  I have a question in support of that.  I believe there is evidence here.  I think what I would like to do is to --


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have your microphone on, Mr. Rogers?  


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry.  That is an important issue, and I believe there is evidence throughout the application.  What I would propose to do, Mr. Rupert, is to try and pull it together for the Board in one place, on one piece of paper, so you can track through where this information can be found. 


MR. RUPERT:  That would be helpful.  Thank you.


My second question is a very mechanical one and this may not be for the panel.  Maybe Mr. Rogers, you could help me out later on.


Yesterday you mentioned that the 2006 audited financial statements for transmission had been filed.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


MR. RUPERT:  In looking at the overall OM&A in your application, this goes back to, I think it's a table in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1.  If you look at the totals in that for 2004, 2005 and 2006, they're sort of close to, but not the same as, the numbers shown as OM&A in the income statement of the audited statements for those years.  I wonder if you could file something just to reconcile those two, at some point?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, of course.  


MS. NOWINA:  Another undertaking. 


MS. LEA:  That will be an additional undertaking, then, K2.7.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.7:  TO PROVIDE RECONCILIATION FOR 


OM&A FIGURES PROVIDED IN EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1 


WITH 2004, 2005 AND 2006 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


MR. RUPERT:  Third question.  Yesterday, you remember, I think in the afternoon Ms. Girvan was asking you about the size of the programs you've got facing you and I think the thrust of the questions was do you really have the resources you need to handle all of this at one point. 


One of the other questions you had yesterday was by Ms. Lea, I think; it had to do with some sustaining capital.  One of the explanations was, for not spending money in a certain year, was there had to be people redeployed to the Parkway transformer station and to Cooksville.  


Those were -- Parkway in particular was a big project.  I appreciate all that.  But you're looking at the future and you have got huge projects coming up.  What specific changes in processes or resources have you got in place now, that you can more can have confidently say that a Bruce Milton project won't sort of take over the entire company and mean resources aren't available for the other parts of your capital program?  


MR. CARLETON:  Certainly we'll be looking to increase the level of contracting out, external contractors.  Certainly we will be looking to increase our own regular staff.  We will be looking to -- that will be a large material cost associated with that project.  


We will look some of our internal processes for how we schedule the work, how we schedule individuals, how we can get the work done quicker, and it will be a significant challenge.  That's all I can say.  


MR. PENSTONE:  I would also add that there is a significant amount of work underway right now in the engineering and construction arm to develop standards, to enable sort of more work to be done on a standardized basis.  Cookie-cutter is not the right phrase, but to try to minimize the amount of engineering that is required for these projects, to the extent that they can.  


There has not been a lot of work done historically to sort of update and revise these standards moving forward.  But that's, again, one of the strategies that the company is actively undertaking.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  The last question I had was something that came up yesterday, I think, in the Society's cross-examination.  It was just -- I will turn it up.  I don't want to focus on this particular issue too much, but it was a helpful illustration, and it was --  


I think it was, the interrogatories from the Society were in J-2.  This is J-2-1.  Remember, this was the spreadsheet that had "Transmission Capital Projects" on it, and behind it there were several copies of interim reviews of variance forms.  The one that caught my eye was about four -- I guess double-sided, probably eight pages in.  It's the Belle River transformer station and this was -- it's a few pages in after the spreadsheet.  I don't know if you have it there, or not.  


It shows that the causes for this particular change, and the third one under the cause, it says: 

"The insulating oil was discovered to be contaminated after the transformer was filled.  Additional labour and oil is required to clean the contaminated transformer." 

The impact of that is $500,000.


My general question which this example illustrates is - maybe it is in the evidence somewhere and I haven't seen it; that's quite possible - what processes at Hydro One do you have to make sure when a project is done, like this one, that the organization is looking at it to say is every dollar we spent something that appropriately goes into rate base?  Or are there issues that sometimes could happen on projects, whether it's mismanagement or other things, that someone says that wasn't in the cards; that wasn't prudent?  Is there a process at Hydro One to ensure, before it goes into rate base, that things such as this perhaps are screened out and not included, or does every dollar spent go into rate base?


MR. CARLETON:  Typically what we would have is a final review of variance after the project is completed, have lessons learned, explain why the costs were over, and they're reviewed at the appropriate level in the organization based on over-expenditures.


For instance, in this one, where the insulating oil was contaminated, that was looked at.  We didn't pay, for instance, for the incremental oil.  We got that -- I think the tanker was contaminated, so that company actually replaced the oil free of charge.


So, for instance, in this case although we said 500K - this was an interim review - the actual final came in I think it was about 200K is what it cost us, and that was the incremental cost for our labour that was used in this project for, I guess, an unforeseen event.  


We would look at it, go through it, did it meet the needs of why we undertook the work in the first place?  Did the costs come in as we expected or were they over and for what reason?  Was that a reasonable estimate?  And it goes through that process, and then the final review is approved.


MR. RUPERT:  Do you have any sense as to how frequently, if very often, expenditures may not get capitalized and may not get included in rate base because of a determination that it was something that could have been avoided, ought to have been avoided?


MR. CARLETON:  I'm not familiar with many of those sorts of situations.  It would be rare, in my view.


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have no questions, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I have no questions for this panel either.  Mr. Rogers, would you like to re‑examine again?


MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much, panel.  You are dismissed.  We really appreciate your efforts.  We will break now until 1 o'clock for lunch.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 11:20 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:01 p.m.  


MS. NOWINA:   Please be seated.  


Did any matters come up during the break that we wish to discuss?  


MR. ROGERS:  No, not that I wish to discuss.  I do have a couple of undertaking answers that I can file now, if I might.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine, let's do that, Mr. Rogers. 


MS. LEA:  Is your microphone on, Mr. Rogers?  


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry.


MS. LEA:  I'm right across the prairie here. 


MR. ROGERS:  I should know better by now. 


MS. LEA:  And I have got, you know, asset aging issues.  


MR. ROGERS:  I do have a couple of undertaking answers to file.  The first is Exhibit K, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, an undertaking to provide a break down between OM&A costs versus capital, dealing with efficiency gains, as allocated between the two.  I will distribute that.  


And the second -- perhaps I could wait until the panel is sworn in.  The second is an exhibit, which is -- we talked about it this morning.  It is the comparison between the two interrogatory answers, one of which was incorrect.  It was corrected this morning.  The information is all being compiled on one, I hope, convenient table.  But I might ask Mr. Penstone just to explain it.  Maybe we could swear the panel in first, then I will do that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will get until we get to your examination-in-chief to do that. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  So I’ve -- that completes the preliminary matters.  I have a panel, panel 2.  Could they be sworn, please?  Mr. Penstone is already sworn, I believe.  


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2


Naren Pattani; Sworn 


Mike Penstone; Previously Sworn  


Nairn McQueen; Sworn  


Paul Tremblay; Sworn  


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROGERS:


MR. ROGERS:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  Each of you has a microphone in front of you, and would you please do as I say, not as I do?  Turn your mike on when you are going to answer a question.  


Could I start with you, Mr. Pattani.  Mr. Naren Pattani is the panel member farthest to the north.  Mr. Pattani, I understand, sir, that you hold an honours Bachelor of Science in electrical engineering degree from the University of Nairobi.


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, I do. 


MR. ROGERS:  That you are a professional engineer here in Ontario, registered as such. 


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, I am. 


MR. ROGERS:  That you are a member of the Order of Engineers of Quebec?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, I am.


MR. ROGERS:  I see that you started your career in the paper business, in 1972, with Reid Paper Limited.  I'm sorry, I have the wrong Naren.


Did you not work for Reid Paper, or are you in the wrong room?


[Laughter]  


MR. PATTANI:  Probably in the wrong room.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Can I leave too?  


MR. ROGERS:  Very good start.  You didn't work for Reid Paper at all, but you --


[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  I think we have established that.


MR. ROGERS:  I think that works.  What was your first job after graduating?


MR. PATTANI:  I worked for the Tanzania Electric Supply Company in Tanzania. 


MR. ROGERS:  When you came to Canada did you work for Shawinigan Engineering Consultants? 


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  You became a member of the old Ontario Hydro, I think back in 1982 or so. 


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, I did. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you progressed through various functions in that corporation, and now hold the position of manager, transmission system development?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, sir.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  


Mr. Penstone, I won't ask you any questions.  You have already been qualified.


To Mr. Penstone's left is Mr. Nairn McQueen.  Mr. McQueen, I understand, sir, that you hold a Bachelor of Engineering in chemical engineering degree from McMaster University?


MR. McQUEEN:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  That you have taken post-graduate courses in chemical reactor design and environmental chemistry at the University of Toronto?


MR. McQUEEN:  That's also correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  That you started off your career, I hope, in the steel business with Dominion Foundries... 


MR. McQUEEN:  I did.


MR. ROGERS:  ...in Hamilton, and have worked for a number of companies including Canada Packers, as a project engineer?


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Prince Albert Pulp Company as plant manager and assistant general manager? 


MR. McQUEEN:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  And from about 1981 to 1990 you were employed in a variety of positions with Agra Inc....


MR. McQUEEN:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  ...latterly as vice president of engineering and project management with that company?


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Since 2000 you have been employed with the applicant, and are presently vice president, engineering and construction services, director engineering and construction services?


MR. McQUEEN:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  We have filed copies of your curriculum vitae as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, page 7.  So far as you are aware, is that an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?  


MR. McQUEEN:  I believe it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Pattani, with the correction that you made to the exhibit, you can confirm that that is an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, it is.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, the final panellist, Member of the Board, is Mr. Paul Tremblay.


Mr. Tremblay, I understand, sir, that you also are an engineer with a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical engineering from the University of New Brunswick. 


MR. TREMBLAY:  That's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  That you have worked in various engineering capacities throughout your career beginning in 1981?


MR. TREMBLAY:  Correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked with the old Ontario Hydro for most of those years, I see, from your curriculum vitae.


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  And have worked your way through various capacities and presently hold the position of director, network operating, grid operations for the company?  


MR. TREMBLAY:  That is correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you can confirm for me, can you, that the curriculum vitae filed in the evidence, so far as you are aware is an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience.


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  I would like to ask each of you before we begin as members of panel 2, just which area of the evidence you will be responding to.  Starting with you, Mr. Tremblay, what was it you do with the company and what kinds of questions will you entertain?


MR. TREMBLAY:  The area that I will speaking to is the operations area.  My current position is overseeing the day-to-day operations of the company, in both transmission and distribution side of the business.  


MR. ROGERS:  And you're familiar with the Barrie control centre, I understand. 


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that is actually under my charge. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you very much.  Mr. McQueen, could you just tell us briefly what your responsibilities are with the company.  


MR. McQUEEN:  My responsibility is the delivery of capital projects, and I was will speak to those issues.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Now, Mr. Penstone, we are familiar with you from the past two days, but could you tell us, please, which areas of the evidence on this panel will you be responding to.


MR. PENSTONE:  The development OM&A and development capital projects.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Pattani, what, very briefly, is your area of expertise or area of responsibility in the company and what questions will you answer?


MR. PATTANI:  As manager of transmission system development, I look after the transmission system planning matters and I shall be covering the transmission projects and, more specifically, the IJDs, the investment justification documents from D1 to D31 and appendix A of D1.13, which covers the Niagara reinforcement project.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Finally, gentlemen, can I ask you collectively, can you confirm that the evidence which was prepared to be responded to by this panel under your direction and control is accurate so far as you are aware.  Mr. Pattani, yes? 


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, I believe so. 


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Now I have a brief examination-in-chief, if I might.  But before doing that, could I deal with the outstanding undertaking concerning these pesky interrogatory answers.


Now, what the applicant has done is to put all of this data, I think, the corrected data on one document, and you will see when I distribute it, Madam Chair, that the new numbers, the corrected numbers are highlighted in red.  It makes it much easier to follow.   


MR. ROGERS:  Now, Mr. Penstone, I don't want to take a lot of time on this.  We spent a great deal of time already, but this document does try to put in one place, I think, the corrected information concerning the age of the transformer equipment.  


Could you just explain to us what the document does and how we should interpret it.


MS. NOWINA:  Before we do that, Mr. Rogers, can you remind us, is this the AMPCO exhibit?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  It is exactly the same, except the numbers have been corrected?


MR. ROGERS:  Well --


MR. PENSTONE:  I will explain.


MR. ROGERS:  -- I'm not certain of that.


MS. NOWINA:  The reason I'm asking is whether or not we should give it a new exhibit number.


MR. ROGERS:  I think we should.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, okay.  Why don't we do that first.


MS. LEA:  I beg your pardon.  So this is not undertaking K1.2?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, you can make it another undertaking, if you like.  I think I undertook this morning to file a table which compiled all of this data in one place.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I'm sorry if I'm not up to speed, Mr. Rogers.  So K1.2 was to correct the interrogatory response for J-1-20.


MR. ROGERS:  That's right.


MS. LEA:  And is that something we now no longer need?


MR. ROGERS:  No, no.  That's something I think you need.  It provides the answer to the Board Staff's undertaking ‑‑ or interrogatory, which should have been provided in the first place, I believe.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So that is still coming?


MR. ROGERS:  No, that has been filed this morning.


MS. LEA:  Filed this morning, good.  That's fine, then.  So in is not a supplemental to that.  It is a new exhibit?


MR. ROGERS:  It is a new exhibit, really, but it follows the format of the AMPCO exhibit with the corrected information put on it, and maybe a little more.  I'm not sure.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So let's give it Exhibit No. L2.2, please.



EXHIBIT NO. L2.2:  COMPARISON OF APPLICANT'S 


RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES BY AMPCO (VOLUME 2, 


EXHIBIT J, TAB 6, SCHEDULE 1) AND BOARD STAFF (VOLUME 


1, EXHIBIT J, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 20) REGARDING NUMBER OF 


CIRCUIT BREAKERS 40 YEARS OLD AND OLDER AND 50 YEARS 


OLD AND OLDER

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone, can you just explain very briefly to the Board what this exhibit shows.


MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly.  The exhibit is designed to illustrate two points.  One is in the top table.  It illustrates how the corrected interrogatory response to the OEB's interrogatory J‑1‑20 is now aligned with the AMPCO interrogatory response.  In other words, the top row and the third row, the numbers in those rows correspond.


The response is also designed to illustrate how the discrepancy occurred in the first place, and this is illustrated in the second box.  I will briefly give an example of how this is done from one particular year.


If you consider the year 2003, the greyed-out numbers in 2003 were the original -- contained in our original submission.  


 Those numbers should have been included in 2004, and you will notice that the corresponding numbers in the 2004 column, in red, are identical to the grey numbers in 2003.


This was to my earlier point that we had mistakenly shifted the figures by one year.


We also include information about two types of assets, the so‑called 115 air circuit, air blast breakers, greater than 40 years of age.  It's shown as five units, and the SF6 breaker is greater than 40 years of age shown as four units.


MR. ROGERS:  These are all in red.


MR. PENSTONE:  They are all in red.


If you shift the 2003 numbers into 2004, and add those nine units that comprise the 115 and SF6 figures, you will arrive at 437 total units, and that figure corresponds in the top table to the figures presented by AMPCO and the corrected J‑1‑20.


MR. ROGERS:  This is a reconciliation.  It explains how you reconciled the erroneous first answer with the supplement to the AMPCO answer?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Those are all of the questions that I have on that document, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Now I have two brief matters I would like to deal with in chief, and the first really arose because of some comments made yesterday afternoon, and more particularly this morning.


Mr. Rupert asked a question of the panel about the ability of the corporation to undertake the very ambitious capital spending project and what changes, if any, it was implementing to see that it could be done.  Now that we have Mr. McQueen here, I would like to ask him about that.


I don't think you were here this morning, Mr. McQueen, but the question dealt with the very extensive capital plans of the corporation.  I wonder if you could help us as to whether the company is making any innovative ‑‑ taking any innovative steps to cope with this demanding capital expansion program.


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, certainly.  There's no doubt that the increase in the size of the capital investment program presents challenges.


If you look back at what we've accomplished in the last few years, in terms of delivering ever-increasing volumes of capital work with reduced staff levels and increasing reliance on the use of consultants and contractors, our expectation is to continue that trend, and, in fact, to focus more efforts on outsourcing specific projects or significant elements of large projects.  


And perhaps I could give you some examples of the nature of the increase in the work that we're doing and the ways in which we intend to attack that.


For example, if we look at customer connection stations, in the latter few years of the 1990s and early few years of this century, Hydro One essentially did not build any customer connection stations.  The LDCs pretty much did all of them themselves.


From in about 2001, we decided that we needed to take action to improve our costing, improve our responsiveness to customer enquiries, and from 2000 to 2006 I believe we built six stations.


Today, for the next few years, we have on our books 20 customer connection stations, which is roughly 200-plus-million-dollars' worth of work, which has arisen over the past few years, in fact, because we represent a competitive alternative to other sources of getting this work done, but it is an increase in our work.


We intend to do some of that work internally.  We intend to outsource a number of those complete stations, and we have actually instituted two novel ideas for us.  One is the complete station in a box.  What we did in Dundas, what we did in London and what we did in Cardiff and also Belle River was a completely prefabricated station that was put on a concrete foundation, hooked up to the transformers and the feeders were there for the LDC to connect to, so trying to minimize the level of effort we need to do internally.


Similarly, on a lot of the larger stations, we have implemented what we call protection and control in a box, where we have completely prefabricated, prewired, precommissioned protection and control systems delivered to the site for simple field wiring.  


That amounts to on the order of about $30 million worth of work that we will be outsourcing over the next two years, in addition to the full stations.


As you are aware, we have outsourced the Toronto downtown tunnel project, which is notionally about $44 million.  The Claireville gas insulated switchgear project we have outsourced on a turnkey basis to Mitsubishi Electric Company, $52 million.


 Last year, and we'll do more this year, we outsourced $15 million worth of engineering work primarily for meter service provider functions, the RT replacement program, various design tasks, and upcoming this year and onward we intend to outsource the distribution generator connection business, as well as the cyber security requirements that are coming down from NERC and NPCC.


We also have plans in place to outsource a number of major one-off projects, such as the static bar compensators for the Matagami line and at Nanticoke, together with Lakehead and some serious comp projects associated with that.


We're looking at on the order of about $150-, $160 million worth of projects there.


We've also taken the decision - in fact just yesterday afternoon - that we will be outsourcing almost all of the construction, if not all of the construction, on the Bruce by Milton project.  So taken all together over the next couple of years, two, three years, we will be outsourcing on the order of $6- or $700 million worth of our program work.


MR. ROGERS:  This is something that's changed from the old ways of Hydro One?


MR. McQUEEN:  Absolutely.  Our strategy is not to be in the engineering and construction business for the sake of being in the business.  Our strategy is to be in the business to the extent necessary, to understand our business, to be able to define requirements, properly communicate to consultants and contractors, properly evaluate performance, and to be a training ground for the folk that ultimately become the asset managers, together with the folk that work in the field, in the field engineering aspects.  We are the training ground for the senior engineering staff that work for Mike Penstone, Naren Pattani, and so on.


So there is a critical mass we require.  But we're far beyond that at this stage in terms of output requirements, and the intention is rather than build staff, to retain the proper level of core staff for the future sustainability and supplement with contractors, temporary staff, consultants and turnkey projects in order to deliver the work required by the system.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Just before we leave this point, I would like you to comment, if you could, about the availability of materials for these projects.  Is that an issue that you are concerned about, and if so what are you doing about it?


MR. McQUEEN:  Materials have been an emerging issue for probably the last year, maybe not quite a year but let's say a year.  As you're aware, if you look at two huge markets, China is rolling out about 60,000 megawatts of new generation capacity each year, and clearly has to connect that through transmission and distribution investments. India, ten to 15,000 megawatts per year of new generation capacity and again needs to connect it through transmission and distribution.  We are competing with those countries.  We have never had to compete with India and China to buy materials, now we are.  


To give you an example, simple distribution transformers, the 2583s that we use have extended out from 20 weeks delivery to almost 86 weeks now.  


The transformers we use for customer connections, the 75 to 250 range, have moved from, again, 26 weeks to 86 weeks.  Extensive runouts on that.  The big auto transformers that we use; in 2004 I bought two of them from Peebles for Parkway.  We paid $6 million each and got them in 38 weeks, delivered from Scotland.  Today we've just recently ordered another spare for the system from Hyundai; it's 80 weeks delivery and cost $14 million for essentially the same specification.


So the deliveries are extending out.  They're almost doubling, and been cost increases on the order of 50 percent to 100 percent for some of these major commodities.  


And I could go on and talk about insulators; three months have now become nine to 12 months.  Aluminum conductors, some sizes fundamentally are not available unless you order them well in advance.  There is a worldwide shortage of aluminum rods from which the conductors are drawn.  There is a new rod mill expected to come online in the world market in 2010, which will hopefully remove that constraint on supply by 2011, by the time it flows through to the people that pull the wires for us.


We are presently -- and this is really not applicable to the transmission rate, but we are actually on allocation for distribution transformers right now.  Our manufacturers - and these are big companies, ABB and VA Tech - have given us an allocation of the numbers of distribution transformers that they will make available to us in 2007, and that cannot be exceeded because they simply can't make them.


We're also on allocation for control cables that we use for building our new stations, and certain relays from General Electric and other manufacturers, and instrument transformers, are also on allocation.


So we need to be doing our procurement planning much longer in advance.  It requires planning decisions and investment decisions, fundamentally almost a year earlier than it did before, in order to meet similar delivery timelines on the projects.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I would -- I will leave that topic now and move to another.  


What I would like to do is now just briefly talk about Exhibit L.2.1 which was filed this morning, which is, was a document that was put together last night, really, Madam Chair, Members of the Board, to try and deal with concern of Board Staff, I think, about the level of board supervision of this capital program and what exactly we're asking the Board to do in this case.  


We have attempted to put together a summary here, which lists all of the projects that are part of the capital program.  And there's a brief narrative which explains the different categories of capital expenditures and I'm going to ask Mr. -- I believe Mr. Penstone, maybe, to kind of walk us through the analysis.  It's not too complex, I don't believe, but Mr. Penstone, could you -- using Exhibit L2.1, explain to the Board the different categories of capital expenditure and how they relate to the company's filing and the revenue.  I know you're not an expert on the revenue adjustment mechanism, but provide the foundation, so that when that expert or that witness comes, he will be able to explain how it will work relative to the capital program.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly.  If I can direct the panel's attention to the first slide entitled, "Category 1, Summary of Transmission Development Capital Projects.  


MR. ROGERS:  By the way, thank you for doing that.  This is the first table?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  There's one thing I meant to ask you about and I forgot, before you start.  When this table was put together, you will see in the fourth heading across, total cost in millions.  On the table?  


These are added.  I noted that down, seven down, D20, new feeders at existing TSs, it's shown as an annual expenditure in the final column, but I see the total cost is summed.  Is that appropriate?  


MR. PENSTONE:  No, it isn't.


MR. ROGERS:  Those costs would continue at some level I take it, six million for three years, and I assume they will continue in the future?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  These are individual projects that are demand-driven.  They're in response to customer's requests for additional capacity.  And -- or to connect to our transmission system.


MR. ROGERS:  Right. 


MR. PENSTONE:  So they occur on an annual basis.  


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, another one down there, line connections, would be in the same category.  Really if the table was being redrawn it wouldn't sum those two?  


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  More appropriately, it's the -- the sum would be not applicable. 


MR. ROGERS:  Okay, thank you.  With that caveat now can you carry on, please.


MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly.  The investments listed in category 1 all have one thing in common and that is they will be in service, they will be placed in service during the test years, 2007 and 2008.  


As a result of that, we are seeking approval of these projects to be included in the rate base, and they should be examined with that understanding.  


I would refer the Panel now to the category 2, the second slide in that deck.  These particular investments are all expected to be in service after 2008.  In addition, none of these projects will require section 92s.  They all involve investments at transformer stations, they do not involve line extensions or line construction two kilometres or greater.


For these projects, we're seeking guidance from the OEB on the appropriateness of the need of the preferred plan and the recoverability of the project.  As you can see, the total amounts that are involved here sum to $167.2 million.  The vast majority of that is consumed in a single project, entitled item number D17, Claireville by Cherrywood unbundled.


$107.2 million for that particular investment is a substantial investment, and we would like some assurance from the OEB on, you know, the recoverability of making -- of this investment, the need and the preferred plan.  We need this to be able to undertake this project with some comfort and confidence.  Further to Mr. McQueen's earlier point about long lead times for materiel, this is a project where we will have to make substantial investments quite early in 2008 in order to order the materials that are necessary to meet the need date.


MR. ROGERS:  So it's a project -- it's a large project but because of the long lead time during construction it will not come into service until after the rate period that we're looking at?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  But it will certainly involve significant expenditures in the test years, but not in service during those years.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MR. PENSTONE:  I would direct the Panel's attention to the third slide which is again from a regulatory perspective, these investments all have one thing in common and that is that they will all require section 92 approvals.


So for this category ‑‑ for these particular projects, we're not seeking explicit approvals within this application, assuming that the prudency review of these projects will be undertaken during the section 92 process.


In fact, there are a couple of these projects where section 92s have already been granted by the Board and are currently underway, but certainly there are a number that 

-- section 92 applications have been made or are pending by Hydro One.


The last ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  If I could interrupt.  This is perhaps evident to the Board, but for the category 3, then, there is not the same level of concern by the company, because you will apply for approval of these projects on an individual basis before significant capital is spent?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Just a question of clarification, Mr. Penstone.  And the need will be established in the section 92 -- I notice Leaside is on this list and I believe we decided we would establish the need in this proceeding.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  We would expect to establish the need for Leaside to Birch in this proceeding, but notwithstanding that fact, we also expect to file a section 92 on this project that will address the routing and the cost aspects of the project.


MS. NOWINA:  Will the need be established for all of the others in the section 92s?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  We're not asking that the need be approved for the other projects in this case, Ms. Nowina.


MR. PENSTONE:  Also while we're on this particular table, I would ask the Panel to strike or erase all the references to note 3 and note 4.


MR. ROGERS:  These are on the footnotes down at the bottom.  The section 92 required, that's not correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  Simply in the individual descriptions of each item, section 92s are required for all of these.  So just for ‑‑ the reference to the note is not required.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm not sure I understand, Mr. Penstone.  Is the whole note unnecessary, the footnote?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  Just the reference to note 3 in the second column, that note is not necessary.  We've already stated at the outset that section 92s are required for all of these.


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, I see.  I see.  Yes, thank you.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  And, likewise, the references to note 4 in item D9 and D15, that also is unnecessary.  Both of these are -- both of these projects are in fact pre-IPSP projects.


Lastly, if I can turn to the last page.  These investments are considered to be within the purview of the OPA's IPSP and they will either be considered for approval within the IPSP process, or be subject to a section 92, if applicable.


Now, the two projects that we've included in this category, neither one of them we would be seeking a section 92 application for, because neither one of them involves constructions of lines, but we included this category because there may be other projects that fall under this title.


But notwithstanding the fact that -- if they're not approved in the IPSP and you don't have a section 92, they will be part of Hydro One's capital expenditure review process that's going to be part of the revenue adjustment mechanism.  They're coming into service beyond the test years, and I understand that the revenue adjustment mechanism allows for OEB review of projects that are coming into service in 2009 and 2010.


MR. ROGERS:  We will have a witness to deal with the adjustment mechanism later, but the Board can be assured, if my understanding of that is correct, that these capital projects, if the adjustment mechanism is accepted by the Board, will come before the Board again for review before they are included in the rate base in that calculation.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  And finally yet another correction, under item D2 in the second column there is a reference to note 3.  That is not applicable.  Please strike note 3.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Penstone.  I hope that helps, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.  The panel is available for questioning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Ms. Lea.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, thank you very much for preparing Exhibit L2.1.  We have certainly found it very helpful.  All of this material was in the record, but it's so helpful to have it set out category by category so that we can understand what projects to focus on.


I appreciate that this panel is not the panel to discuss the adjustment mechanism with, and I won't attempt to do that, but it's been very helpful to understand, you know, to what depth do we have to enquire now in panel 2 into these projects is partly driven by which projects are subject to the adjustment mechanism, and so that's very helpful.


And I just wanted to ask one question about that.  If the Board determines that an adjustment mechanism is not appropriate - in other words, it turns down Hydro One's request for that adjustment mechanism - do I understand correctly that the company would be returning and there would be evidence filed on these projects in category 4 and category 2 to make an adjustment to rate base, because the adjustment mechanism is not happening?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  My understanding, if I can answer the question, is that that is the case.  If the adjustment mechanism is not required, depending on how things unfold, the company would have to come back for a full cost-of-service review, I suppose, in which its rate base additions would also be reviewed.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And if the adjustment mechanism is approved, I want to talk just a little bit about the category 2 projects.  I gather that you would be filing evidence on costs and economic justification at that time.  But, in addition, today, or for this panel, this rates panel, you want some comfort that the expenditures that you plan are not ‑‑ are regarded as not unreasonable at this juncture.  


In other words, it's not full approval now, but it's an attempt to put this before the Board for some guidance?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I say as counsel, on this point, that that is correct.  I think the company would like to have as much assurance as the Board can comfortably give that it is on the right track with these projects.  It expects to come back to justify the overall cost in due course, but they are concerned, because of the long lead times and very large amounts of capital, that they embark on these projects largely because of the urging of others; then have them turned down as being imprudent at some point.  


I think the company understands they have to come back and show that the costs have been reasonable.  They are asking this Board, to the extent you can, to not officially approve so much as sanction their expansion program.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. McQueen, thank you for the evidence about equipment problems.  It was very interesting, but your counsel began his question by referring you back to the questions of myself and Mr. Rupert about:  Can Hydro One succeed with its ambitious plan?  And what I didn't hear in your examination-in‑chief is how you propose to overcome all of these various equipment problems, which were indeed very substantial.


MR. McQUEEN:  Well, the equipment problems revolve around identifying what we need and being able to put in place contracts to tie up manufacturing space or tie up raw materials much earlier in the project cycle than historically we've had to do.  And the biggest challenge will be in having the project approvals in place quickly enough.


To give you an example, let me go back to the Parkway situation that I referred to with respect to the auto transformers.  We were asked, I believe it was November of 2003, to get on with building, completing the design and building that project.  


We ordered those transformers literally the next day, because it is a standard, and working from standards is one of the mechanisms we use to combat the delivery times.


And we had them delivered 38 weeks later, the first one, and 42 weeks later for the second one.  So we were able to go from "please get on with the project" to actually having the major pieces of equipment on site for field installation within a matter of ten months.


Today that would be closer to two years.  So the challenge is to be able to order things more quickly.  We can't control the length of time it takes a shop to manufacture the transformers or the switchgear.  We just simply have to be able to order them sooner, or take the decision as a corporation to invest money in having capital equipment in inventory, against the day that we would be asked to build something.  That is something that so far we have chosen not to do, because there is some risk associated with having big items like that in storage, just against the possible need for them.  But it is in fact one of the things we're looking at doing.  


Just recently, as you're aware, we've received direction from the OPA to move forward with all haste on the Bruce by Milton project, procuring the steel, the conductor, the insulators and some of the high voltage breakers that we require for that.  We've already started the process of investigations of what we're going to do and how we're going to ensure those materials are available, but quite frankly it will mean, quite potentially it will mean we will have to make purchasing commitments on those materials as much as eight or ten months before we actually have the environmental approval and the final approvals to do the project from the Ministry of Environment, if indeed we are to meet the delivery dates.  


So it requires us to take some risk, to make some decisions like that, that we've never made before.  


We can and we will shorten up the engineering cycle, the amount of time it takes to identify what it is we want to buy in the first place.  Just recently we completely rewrote our transmission lines design manual, which is ready to be published, which is -- which, in fact, we are using on the Bruce job.  In fact, the Bruce design is already complete now.  And we're within literally a month or two of being able to publish our Stations Design Manual which will allow us to, basically, pick assemblies out of the book, complete with material take-offs ready to place orders in an effort to be able to shorten the time between "please proceed with the project" and being able to place purchase orders.


Beyond that, we are, in fact, at the mercy of the marketplace to a certain degree.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you for that answer.  One other, if I can call it a preliminary administrative matter before I begin other questions.  Last week we received an additional filing from Hydro One on certain of the projects and some of them are fairly large in material.  So I'm looking at a letter from Hydro One which provided copies of responses to interrogatories largely from Board Staff, and they related to project D6, which is the North-south transmission reinforcement; project D10, which is the Detweiler, the MVAR shunt capacitor bank, and the Orangeville transmission station and again a shunt capacitor bank; project D17, the Claireville project that you mentioned in your evidence-in-chief; and the Leaside project, D18, which you mentioned in your evidence-in-chief.  There was also another package of stuff.  


I've already spoken to my friend Mr. Rogers about the fact that we needed a little time, given when this evidence was filed, to prepare ourselves to ask questions about it.  And if it's acceptable to the Board Panel, I would propose to leave those questions till Thursday for this panel, because there's considerable material.  They're very material projects, in terms of money, and we want to make sure we do a proper job on them, given the category they fit into.


So if Mr. Rogers is agreeable, I will do - and the Board Panel of course is agreeable - I will do the cross-examination on everything else that wasn't filed last week, and then come back to these questions on Thursday.  I trust that that is acceptable?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers?  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we should pause for a moment and ask if any of the other parties who are goes to cross-examine need the same consideration.  Mr. Buonaguro. 


MR. BUONAGURO:   I can tell you I do have some specific questions on project D6.  I haven't considered whether I need further time.  I have to talk to my consultant on that.  It hadn't occurred to me.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's see if it arises and we don't have an order of cross-examination yet in any case, so let's see if it arises as we move through this afternoon.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I appreciate that indulgence.  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I wonder, this is a little unorthodox, but I wonder if Ms. Lea would permit me to ask one re-examination question now, just while we have the topic about these projects.  It is something that came up in her question concerning the ability of the company to do this work.


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  I mean, as far as I'm concerned.  


MR. ROGERS:  Would that be -- 


MS. NOWINA:  It's a little early for re-examination, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  It's a little unusual, but it might be helpful to have it all in one place.  


Mr. McQueen, my friend asked you about the ability of the company to undertake this work and you told her about the innovative things you're trying to do to ensure it.  The Board's focus may -- won't be totally, but there will be a focus on the work that is projected to be done during 2007 and 2008, the rate year, that it will come into service during the rate year.  What can you tell us about the company's ability to undertake the work and prudently spend the capital that is included in the rate base, that is, projects coming into service in 2007 and 2008?


MR. McQUEEN:  Let me address the 2007 year, for which I have the details in front of me.  


The rate filing, I believe, lists $491 million worth of capital projects that would flow into service and flow into the rate base in 2007.


Our forecast at the present time, if we're able to complete the Niagara reinforcement project this year -- and of course that is not clear, that we will be able to do that.  But if we could complete that project this year and put it into the rate base, we would actually flow $588 million, which is in excess of the 491 which was in the rate filing.  So to me, you know, absent circumstances such as blockades or redirection of our staff because of things that are unanticipated such as like what happened last year, the fire at Pickering, the December explosion of our transformer at Pinard, the problem with the capacitors at Richview, all of which caused us to redirect our engineering staff off of capital projects to do rather important break fix maintenance work; absent all of that, I fully expect to exceed the amount of capital flowing into service this year, than what's in the rate file.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Ms. Lea.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Gentlemen, I have no questions about the OM&A levels for development and operations.  Given the magnitude of the capital expenditures, I'm going to concentrate on that part of the topic.


And I have one question about operations capital.  And I wonder if we could turn to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 4.  D1, tab 3, schedule 4.  Has this exhibit been updated?  Is it a blue page that's...


MR. TREMBLAY:  There was an update, I think, in February.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Looking then at the updated page -- 


MR. TREMBLAY:  Sorry, could I ask which page?  


MS. LEA:  Yes, pardon me.  Page 4 is the table I want to look at.  Table 1, operations capital.  I should have made that clear. D1, tab 3, schedule 4, page 4.  This is a very general question.  There's been a reduction in spending from 2003 to the bridge year, 2006.  Then we see a considerable increase in 2007 and 2008.  Is that right?


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. LEA:  And do I understand correctly that a major driver of the increase is the real-time asset management system?


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I think we see a chart of that, those expenditures, at page 5 of that same exhibit.


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  What is the reason to -- the urgency to initiate this expenditure in the test years?


MR. TREMBLAY:  The main or the bulk of that expenditure will be going into a replacement of the network management system at the Ontario grid control centre.  That system is basically close to end of life now and we have to begin the actual replacement of both the hardware and the software upgrade, beginning in the 2007 year.


MS. LEA:  And how much of the increase ‑‑ at page 5 of the exhibit, you mentioned the need to upgrade to the NERC cyber security standards.  How much of the increase is attributable to that particular initiative?


MR. TREMBLAY:  Looking at table 2, we see the expenditure in 2007 for NERC cyber security is 2.4.


MS. LEA:  Okay, yes.  Thank you.  So it is largely the NMS upgrade, then, that is driving this increase?


MR. TREMBLAY:  That is the primary amount, yes.


MS. LEA:  Could this expenditure have been anticipated earlier and begun earlier?


MR. TREMBLAY:  It was actually anticipated as early as 2002 during the initial design phase of the Ontario grid control centre.


At that time, based on discussions with the vendors, we were aware that we would be looking to replace the systems as early as 2007.  That's based on the life cycle that the vendor provides us and that they continue to support the critical systems.


So at this point, we're looking at beginning the update in 2007, and the intent is to have the equipment replaced towards ensuring continued reliability and vendor support.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Turning to a general question about development capital investments, I wonder if we could look together at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 6; D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 6.  


At page 6 of that exhibit we see a development capital table, and the table breaks down the investment into five categories.  And all of this, these various categories, if broken down further, would be contained in the chart of projects that was filed today as Exhibit L2.1.


Do I understand the relationship of those two things correctly?  It may be that the last row, performance enhancement and risk mitigation, would not be included in the project amount.


MR. PENSTONE:  Exactly, yes.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Tell us just a little bit, then, about performance enhancement and risk mitigation.  What is that about, and is there any particular reason for the pattern in spending we see in this table?


MR. PENSTONE:  A description of those particular projects is contained in D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 20.  Basically, under the Transmission System Code, Hydro One is obligated to monitor customer delivery point performance and identify situations where the customer delivery point performance has degraded to beyond acceptable levels, and acceptable levels are well defined.


When those occurrences are realized and identified, we make investments to try to remedy the reduced performance.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Looking at the pattern of the numbers, then, while many of the numbers follow the same pattern - I just happen to be looking at the "totals" line - there is a large increase in spending between 2003 and 2004, and then a fairly significant drop in 2005.  Are there any particular reasons for that pattern of spending?


MR. PENSTONE:  The projects undertaken in 2005 to address those particular issues were reduced as a result of the labour disruption.


MS. LEA:  And was there something special that you undertook in 2004?  You don't reach that level of spending again until 2007.


MR. PENSTONE:  The single largest contributor to 2004 is in the category of compliance and mitigating high risk, where there is ‑‑ that comprised about 75 percent of the expenditure.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, you labelled it compliance and...


MR. PENSTONE:  To mitigate high risk.  Sorry, this 

is ‑-


MS. LEA:  Part of performance enhancement and risk mitigation?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  Again, the term "compliance" is in the context of complying with the requirements of the Transmission System Code to improve what we've ‑‑ what we refer to as delivery point outliers whose performance has degraded.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And what about local area supply adequacy, which seems to be a big chunk of that spend in that year?


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, can I have a reference, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I'm still back at page D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 6, and I'm looking under historical 2004 local area supply adequacy, and I see a big number.  I mean, that's as simplistic as it gets, Mr. Penstone.


MR. PENSTONE:  That represents the Parkway station.


MS. LEA:  Aha, thank you.  That's helpful.  Now you have a large increase in spending in 2007, 2008, and we've heard evidence about why that is necessary.


Do you anticipate ‑‑ well, perhaps you can't answer this question.  Do you yet have any idea whether the trend of an increase in spending will continue into the future beyond 2008?


MR. PENSTONE:  Many of these investments are driven by factors that frankly are outside of our control.


We are responding to customers that want to connect the results of the OPA's procurement processes for new generators that we're obligated to connect.  Situations from a local area supply perspective, if loads continue to grow and if transmission lines and elements become overloaded, we'll have to respond to that.  


And in terms of the inter-area transfer capability, again a lot of that, our future expenditures will depend on the results of the IPSP, specifically:  Where is the future generation going to be located and to what extent transmission has to be constructed to connect it?


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Turning to a few specific projects, then, please, beginning with the Niagara reinforcement project.  I wonder if you would look with me at Exhibit D‑1, tab 1, schedule 3.


And the economic rationale for the Niagara reinforcement project appears at appendix A of D1, tab 1, schedule 3. So we're looking at Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 3, Appendix A, and I would ask you to turn to page 2 of that appendix, please, and have a look at the text, beginning at line 11.


Do I understand the evidence correctly, that the economic justification for this project, if I can put it that way, has lain in the comparison of the build of this project to the 30-year lifetime net cost of a 350 megawatt simple gas combustion turbine facility?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, in short.  The calculation to estimate the economic benefit is summarized in appendix A as you pointed out, and it is also summarized in the interrogatory response, Exhibit J-1-98.  


MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Pattani.  I was going to refer you to that next.  But the basic idea is that -- please go ahead.


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  So in a sense this methodology assesses the benefit of the incremental capacity to meet peak demand.  It is based on comparing the cost of providing additional capacity by installing a 350 megawatt combustion turbine unit within Ontario, with, on the other hand, the cost of NRP, Niagara reinforcement project, plus the incremental cost of importing 350 megawatts during peak hours.  I.e., it's a capacity of 300 -- the capacity, the 350 megawatt provides on a conservative estimate.  


MS. LEA:  So you are comparing the generation alternative to the import delivered into Ontario along the line?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And then in Exhibit -- as you've pointed out, which I don't think you need to turn up -- 

J-1-98, you give further details and spreadsheets of the various calculations that led you to this conclusion?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, ma'am.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, we have, Staff has no further questions on the economic rationale with -- regarding Niagara.  Now, I understand my friends do have questions about it, but we have questions about the regulatory treatment of the costs of the Niagara project.  I understand that those questions should be directed to panel number 4.  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, ma'am.  As the separate witness panel number 4 will cover matters about the financial treatment of supply mix projects and the Niagara reinforcement project will be included in that.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So any questions I have about the classification of Niagara, as a supply mix project, goes to panel 4?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, ma'am.  


MS. LEA:  There was just one thing, then, and having told you you didn't need to turn it up, I now need you to turn it up, Exhibit J-1-98; and I would like you to look at the last paragraph of that interrogatory.  


If we look at the third page of interrogatory J-1-98, paragraph 4; in that interrogatory you confirmed that this project would be applied to the rate base when this project is in service.  Am I right?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  But there is also the words -- I know this may be semantics, but we also have the words: 

"To be included in the transmission capital rate base after appropriate approvals from the OEB."  


And what is implied here is one of the appropriate approvals is the treatment of the supply mix projects in the D1.14.  So --


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I don't really want to get into a debate with you about it, but it was only in the February filing that we first saw that the Niagara project was classified as a supply mix project.  Is that correct?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  Because that's the first time, I believe, after the interrogatory response that we refreshed the evidence.  


MS. LEA:  Right.  So at the time of this interrogatory response, Niagara was not classified as a supply mix project.  


MR. PATTANI:  It's correct, true.  We were concentrating the interrogatory response on the prefiled evidence and prefiled evidence only.  No new evidence was introduced until then.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So when we read the line "after appropriate approvals from the OEB and when the NRP is in service", when we read this interrogatory -- at that time, the proposal was it would be included in rate base after two things collectively have happened: approvals from the OEB, and the NRP was in service. 


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  Once again the word "and" could have as easily have been an "or".  "After appropriate approvals from the OEB, or when the NRP is in service."  But essentially the term "after appropriate approvals" was meant to reflect that we may come back and include that in supply mix, or we can take it later on when it's in service.


MS. LEA:  Well, I think perhaps we better have that debate with panel 4.  You and I don't agree on the interpretation of the word "and", sir.  So we will leave it for now, because if is not something for this panel.  


I wonder if we could look at two projects, please, that appear in category 3 of your Exhibit L2.1.  Those two projects are the D9, the GTA west transmission reinforcement, and D13, the Woodstock-area transmission reinforcement.


In your evidence-in-chief, Mr. Penstone indicated that all of these projects would require leave-to-construct applications.  Did I understand that correctly?  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  Sorry?  


MS. LEA:  Anybody can answer as far as I'm concerned.  


MR. PATTANI:  That's a correct understanding.  I just wish to make sure that I leave some room for interpretation here.  


We have the third, the third component of the GTA west transmission project, reinforcement project, is the transmission reinforcement for supply to Pleasant TS.


MS. LEA:  Yes, I am going to get to that, sir.  It is a different situation.  It is listed in category 1.  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  Now, it's listed in category 1 because all of these three are part of the GTA west. 


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. PATTANI:  For the transmission reinforcement for Pleasant TS, we have not yet done the project development work to identify the exact type of reinforcement that will be required, and it may be that by the time we are done, it may or it may not require a section 92 application, in which case that may fall out of this category 1.  But for the purpose of the preparation of these tables now, we included it in category 1 as part of the bucket of the GTA west.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I just need to explore that a little bit with you, then, since you have raised it.  So we're talking in category 1, D26, Pleasant transformer station expansion.  So, sir, are you saying that you do not yet know whether it is just a station expansion or whether more than two kilometres of line will be required?


MR. PATTANI:  No.  Let me clarify something first of all.  The D 26 is actually the expansion of the Pleasant TS, the transformer station itself.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. PATTANI:  The Pleasant TS transformer station is required very soon.  As it is noted here, the in-service date is mid-2008.  


MS. LEA:  And that's the transformer station itself?  


MR. PATTANI:  Itself. 


MS. LEA:  There is no line involved in that one?  


MR. PATTANI:  No.  


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. PATTANI:  For the purpose of building that, we don't need a line.  It is when the load at Pleasant TS increases to a higher level that you require the reinforcement of the transmission into Pleasant TS, and that is what is covered by the component 3 of the GTA west project.  


MS. LEA:  All right.  I think I get it.  The GTA west transmission project which is listed as D9 in category 3.  It is already before the Board as a leave to construct, is it not?  


MR. PATTANI:  There are two elements.  The first element, Hurontario SS and the 230 kV transmission reinforcement from Cardiff TS to Hurontario SS has already been granted approval by the Board, the leave-to-construct approval.


MS. LEA:  That’s sort of phase one, yes. 


MR. PATTANI:  That is phase one.


There is phase two, if you call it a phase, the transmission reinforcement for supply to Jim Yarrow TS.  It is in front of the Board right now.


MS. LEA:  Yes, that is the part I was referring to, yes.


MR. PATTANI:  And the third one, the transformer reinforcement to Pleasant TS, which is again a line reinforcement, will be in front of the Board, if it is required, section 92 for in service about mid-2012.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So for the purposes of this chart, then, that is Exhibit L 2.1, that last transmission reinforcement, you would include it as part of D9 and not part of the Pleasant TS which is D 26? 


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I think I understand.


Another matter that is before the Board on this category 3 right now is D13, the Woodstock area transmission reinforcement?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So for these two projects, then, it is in the leave-to-construct applications that we will consider the economic justification and evaluation for those projects?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, I don't know whether you personally know this, sir, but I have discussed it with your counsel and with Mr. Toneguzzo that staff may have an issue about whether a capital contribution is required or not for these projects.


And if a capital contribution is eventually required by the Board, it would change the amount that goes into rate base.  Do I understand correctly?


MR. PATTANI:  That's correct.  If there are ‑‑ as you know, on, for example, D13 for Woodstock, we have not assumed any capital contribution, but if through any proceeding there happens to be a capital contribution, the numbers here would change, and you would have --


MS. LEA:  All right.  I understand Hydro One to agree that it is in the leave to construct that we have that debate -- the leave-to-construct hearings that we have that debate, if we have it at all, not here.


MR. PATTANI:  That's correct, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, there is also a ‑‑ there is a parallel proceeding going on, I believe.  Am I right, Mr. Pattani?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  There is a transmission connection procedure, EB‑2006‑0189, that's also proceeding now, and I guess it may be a question of which proceeding goes ahead of which.


If the EB‑2006‑0189 were to be completed before Woodstock comes in front of the Board, then it would be the other one that will decide it.


MS. LEA:  I understand.  All right.  So in one of those other proceedings, this matter can be debated and the ramifications of it will appear eventually in the rate base calculation for this case?


MR. PATTANI:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Depending when those processes are completed, I suppose.


MS. LEA:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  That's the problem.  The Board may know more about this then, but I understand the 2006-0189 is kind of a generic proceeding to determine the appropriate treatment for this type of facility.


MS. LEA:  Is that the connection approvals?


MR. PATTANI:  Connection procedure.


MS. LEA:  As opposed to the leave to construct?


MR. ROGERS:  My understanding, Ms. Lea, is that ‑‑ correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. Pattani, but the company's position in that proceeding would see no capital contribution.


MR. PATTANI:  That's true.


MR. ROGERS:  So that the numbers that are projected in this rate case assume that this applicant's proposal in the other proceeding is accepted.  If it is not, then there may well have to be revision to how it would go about including in‑service costs.  


The trouble is it may be this case may be over by then.  I don't know.


MS. LEA:  I guess we'll have to coordinate ourselves, Mr. Rogers.  I will see if I have any indication as to when these things might be finished.  All I wanted to establish is that I do not need today, on this record, to enter into that debate with the witnesses or with yourself.  Put it this way ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  You don't need to pick a fight, no.


MS. LEA:  -- if by the time of argument it appears that we do have to enter into that debate, then I think that we can establish the facts and the argument through argument.


MR. ROGERS:  Absolutely, and I think it is really -- yes.


MS. LEA:  I would like to look at a project in category 1, please, and that is the Cambridge Preston TS.


And the issue with this one that I wanted to put to you, gentlemen, is to understand the ramifications of the ADR agreement on a costing for this project, and specifically that part of the ADR agreement that was given orally on the day of the presentation of that agreement regarding local loops.  


And I again spoke to Mr. Toneguzzo at lunch hour to let you know that you would need to have the transcript of the presentation of the settlement conference before you.


Do you have that, gentlemen, to refer to?


MR. PATTANI:  I don't have it, but I am aware of that agreement.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  We'll see how we go, then.


I'm looking at, for the record at least, the ‑‑ this discussion occurs at pages 24 through 27 of the settlement conference transcript.


MR. ROGERS:  I think you will find Mr. Pattani doesn't have the transcript, but is quite familiar with the issue.


MS. LEA:  Good, okay.  If we look at the Cambridge Preston transformer station project, which is project D8 in category 1, would this now ‑‑ given the agreement that has occurred on the record, would this now be classified as a line connection project?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, it would.  I assume we'll go further on this, because I would like to make some clarifying remarks on it, too, but, yes, it would be a line connection project.


MS. LEA:  I will certainly give you an opportunity to make those clarifying remarks, but I have to get there gradually.


MR. PATTANI:  Sure.


MS. LEA:  Can you please look at ‑‑ okay.  Sorry, in your original evidence for this project, you indicated it's a network pool investment.  


Oh, dear, thank you.


You indicated that it is a network pool investment.  Perhaps I am speaking too loudly.  I don't know what it is.  Anyway, am I right, sir?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  But now it is in fact a connection investment?


MR. PATTANI:  That's true.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, you wanted to make some comments with respect to that, because let me tell you what our issue is, and then you can address it.


If this had been classified as a connection investment at the time the project was costed, you would have sought a capital contribution, and should you be seeking one now?


MR. PATTANI:  No, I don't believe so.  And the main rationale is similar to what we have, as you mentioned just now, and I would like to just turn to Woodstock that we mentioned just now.  Where is Woodstock?  It is a line connection project.  Now, if we go to D-13 ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. PATTANI:  -- the last paragraph under the investment summary, it says this project includes line connection facility pool facilities.  The project cost is based on the assumption that it will be pool funded with no capital contribution, in accordance with section 6.3.6 of the Transmission System Code, and, extrapolating from there, in accordance with the transmission connection procedure that Hydro One has filed under the proceeding EB-2006‑0189.  


And, in short, because this line connection facility will supply more than one customer and more than one delivery point, it will not attract capital contribution, even if the calculations show that otherwise it would have attracted it.


MS. LEA:  So we're back to that same issue that we raised about Woodstock and GTA West.


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Hydro One and Staff may have a different interpretation that needs to be debated at some point?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  All right.  I would like to ask you a couple of more factual questions about this to assist us in determining whether we need to push this further on this record.


Who would be the potential payers of this capital contribution were one to now be required?


MR. PATTANI:  For Preston?


MS. LEA:  For Cambridge Preston, yes.


MR. PATTANI:  Okay.  Now, if we look at Preston TS proposal, it connects Kitchener, Kitchener ‑‑ sorry, I don't have it.  It connects the Kitchener transformer stations owned by Kitchener - what's it called, the LDC?  Kitchener, Waterloo?


MS. LEA:  Kitchener Wilmot, sir.


MR. PATTANI:  Wilmot.  It also connects to Guelph Centre TS, so that would be Guelph Hydro.  And I believe there is at least one other LDC there.  So there will be ‑‑ sorry, it is right up front in the summary for D8 under the investment summary:

"Power supply to Waterloo region including Cambridge, Guelph, Kitchener and Waterloo area is completed through a number of transformer stations.  These stations are fed by a network of 230 kV and the 115 kV lines..."


MR. ROGERS:  Slow down, Mr. Pattani.


MS. LEA:  We have a court reporter who needs to take down everything you say.


MR. PATTANI:  Sorry about that.  So it is going to be activities in Cambridge, Guelph, Kitchener and Waterloo areas.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  At the time, is this constructed now, or how far along with you?


MR. PATTANI:  It's under construction.  It should be in service any time this year.


MS. LEA:  Under construction.  Are these utilities expecting to pay a capital contribution?


MR. PATTANI:  No.


MS. LEA:  And there's been no notice given by anyone that this matter might be debated in this rates case?


MR. PATTANI:  No.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  What would be ‑‑ what's the total amount of the costs of the project?  


MR. PATTANI:  The cost of the project is $21.3 million. 


MS. LEA:  Do you have any sense, sir, of what the magnitude of a capital contribution might be?  Would it be a material amount?


MR. PATTANI:  It would probably be several million dollars.  I don't have an exact number.  We need to calculate it.


MR. ROGERS:  That's several?


MR. PATTANI:  Several million. 


MR. ROGERS:  Not seven.


MR. PATTANI:  No, several million.  


MS. LEA:  If I could just have a moment.  My quandary is that there are some good reasons for not debating this on this record and not make a finding on this record, which I have tried to elicit factually.  I just want to discuss with my advisors materiality.  


Gentlemen, what amount of work is involved to calculate a capital contribution for this project?  


MR. PATTANI:  I would say we could probably use -- we can probably use the estimate of load growth that we have been given by the transmission customers, and on the basis of that estimate we could probably calculate a provisional estimate within a matter of a few days.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. PATTANI:  The reason I'm saying provisionally is, it may be that by the time -- if we have to actually calculate it for real, the utilities may wish to modify their load forecast, but with the forecast that they gave us during the project, we should be able to do a provisional calculation very -- within a few days. 


MS. LEA:  I am interested in understanding the materiality of this.  It may not be worth, you know, trying to work through all of the various interpretations we have to do to make this decision here.  


So I will ask for that undertaking for a provisional calculation, but I would also, if the Board Panel wishes to offer any guidance as to whether this is an issue that will assist them at all, then I am quite happy to take that guidance as well.  We would ask for it in order to understand the materiality of this several million, given a project cost of $21.2 million, could be large or small compared to that total cost.


So that's where I'm at.  I would request the undertaking for the reasons that I've given.  


MR. ROGERS:  I'm quite willing to give the undertaking on behalf of the applicant. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  K2.8.  


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's right.  K2.8, thank you.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K2.8: CALCULATION OF POTENTIAL 


CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION FOR PRESTON PROJECT


MR. RUPERT:  Ms. Lea, can I ask a question just so I'm following this part of it well enough.  The materiality issue I understand, I think.  But is the staff saying that it disagrees with Hydro One's assessment in these various forms, about no capital contribution is required for the transmission system code? 


MS. LEA:  That is correct. 


MR. RUPERT:  So when will we hear the staff's views on the fact that TSC does require this, and Hydro One says it doesn't require it.  If we're going to go down this road, when will it happen?


MS. LEA:  It will happen for two of the projects in the leave-to-construct applications that are before the Board, as we determined in the cross-examination of a few minutes ago.  And those two are the GTA West and Woodstock.  


When I was looking at the totality of these projects, I identified those two as being ones where this issue would arise, and since they were both before the Board in leave-to-construct applications, the argument could be held there.  


With Preston, it's a bit different.  Preston is not presently subject to leave-to-construct, so we don't have another forum to go to; although, of course, the Board can certainly have a look at the decisions that are rendered in the leave to construct, which -- I actually anticipate Mr. Rogers will precede the decision in this case, although we can never be sure.


So the Board could, for Preston, make that decision based on what happens in the leave-to-constructs for Woodstock and GTA West.  This panel could choose to resolve the matter here on this record, although I am not putting that forward as the best idea.  The trouble with Preston is there's nowhere else to go.


So if it's material enough for you to consider that it is important, then we would have to have some debate here or refer ourselves back to the leave-to-construct applications.  And this is why I hesitate to say that we should have this argument here.  I don't know if it's material enough to bother with, if I can put it that way. 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As Mr. Rogers pointed out, there is another proceeding, which is the Connections Procedures Proceeding that I am seized of, and that -- there will be a decision in that case in the very near future, which will serve to clarify the interpretation of the relevant sections.


So that may serve to resolve the issue for all purposes.  


MS. LEA:  Pardon me, Mr. Sommerville.  So this question is before you in that case as well?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is. 


MS. LEA:  You see, I reviewed the leave-to-construct records, but not that one. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As Mr. Rogers has pointed out, the interpretation of the various sections, the contribution, those requirements arising from the connection procedures for contributions, is integral to that proceeding.  


And that will be addressed in that decision.  


MS. NOWINA:  Let's take a minute for the Board Panel to discuss this.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea, Mr. Rogers, at the afternoon break the Board Panel will at least discuss this and see whether or not we can give you and other parties some guidance --


MS. LEA:  Thank you. 


MS. NOWINA:  -- for the rest of this proceeding.  Now while we're speaking about breaks, Ms. Lea, where are you in your cross?  And would this be an appropriate time to take one?


MS. LEA:  It's a good time to take one, in terms of interrupting me is no problem here.  


I might have another 20 minutes to half an hour to go.  


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we take our break, then, and we can consider that matter.  We will break until 3 o'clock.  


--- Recess taken at 2:30 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:04 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:   Please be seated.


We've discussed this matter of the capital contributions and we will try to give you some guidance.  
With respect to those projects which are subject to a section 92 and that will have proceedings to deal with the impact of the decision on the connection procedures case, which we believe is 2006‑0189, we don't believe that any of those need to be an issue in this case.  We believe that the decision to 2006‑0189 will be issued fairly soon.  


In respect to projects such as Preston, which are not a subject of section 92, then the test becomes one of materiality, whether, once looking at the decision to 2006-0189, there might be an impact that is material to the determination of rate base in this proceeding.


So at this point, from our understanding of the evidence, we don't think Preston would meet that materiality test.  However, I believe that there will be an undertaking on it and we can review that.


So if, after reviewing the decision to 2006-0189, that undertaking and any other evidence on other projects any parties would like to raise the point that we might add an issue to the end of this proceeding to deal with capital contribution for those projects, we might do that.


I don't anticipate that it will happen, but it's a possibility that we are open to.


MR. ROGERS:  I think I understand.  Thank you very much.  I did indicate that I was prepared to have my clients try to calculate what these costs should be, but I am assuming now that at least for those projects which you have enumerated, that won't be necessary.


I wonder if it would be possible to defer that?


MS. NOWINA:  I think for Preston we would still like to take that undertaking.


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  We'll do it for Preston.


MS. NOWINA:  Then we can confirm whether or not it is material and we will know then whether we need to deal with that issue.


MR. ROGERS:  We will make that undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So, yes, Mr. Rogers, I only asked for Preston initially, anyway, and as I understand the guidance of the Board, you will need to prepare that to assist with the test of materiality for that project.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  And the other two we will deal with in leave to construct, I think.  Thank you.  


Gentlemen, I just want to look at a few of the category 2 projects.  These are projects where you're at least seeking the Board's guidance with respect to the amounts of expenditures, and I should note that D17, which is the Claireville project, which is very large, you mentioned in your evidence-in‑chief, we'll be dealing with that on Thursday.


So if we look at D5, circuit re-termination at Richview.  Do I understand correctly from the evidence that you filed in the exhibit marked D5, that the need for the project is highlighted in the IESO's June 2006 reliability outlook?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, that's true.  It has been noted.  When I say highlighted, I mean ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Is your microphone on, sir?


MR. PATTANI:  I'm sorry.


MS. LEA:  You will have to start at the beginning of your answer, please.


MR. PATTANI:  Yes, it has been identified in the IESO's 2006 reliability outlook.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And it is that that determines the need for the project in the applicant's view?


MR. PATTANI:  Well, that and our own studies.  I believe IESO also recognizes the fact that we have done studies and we have identified that this is needed to be done.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  With respect to project D12, the Allenberg transmission station upgrades, the same statement is made in the Exhibit D12, but there is an interrogatory, J-1-88, and in that interrogatory you state that the IESO has not yet evaluated, in detail, this project.


I was wondering if there was any further information available with respect to that.


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  When we make a reference to IESO has no evaluated in detail, it is the carrying out of the system impact assessment that we are referring to.


MS. LEA:  Uh‑huh.


MR. PATTANI:  In terms of the need and identifying the option, I believe those are done by Hydro One.  Hydro One identifies the requirement for this to be done, and we identify the need and option, and IESO carries out the system impact assessment specifically for the facilities that we are proposing to connect.


So that system impact assessment is yet to be finalized.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  D27, the Enfield or Oshawa transmission station, as I understand it, this project was a joint assessment with the LDC in Oshawa and it's intended to satisfy load growth in Durham.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. PATTANI:  That's correct, yes.


MS. LEA:  And in this case, a capital contribution will be made by Oshawa?


MR. PATTANI:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And as I understand the evidence, the economic evaluation and the capital contribution calculation has not yet been finalized, because all of the data is not yet available?


MR. PATTANI:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So these matters, given that they are in service in year 2009, we will be hearing about those projects and the final numbers again in a refiling, either as part of the adjustment mechanism or if the applicant has to come back for cost-of-service application?


MR. PATTANI:  I guess this is a matter I would not be aware much.  I guess it is a regulatory ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Probably Mr. Penstone helps us with that.  I don't know.  This is the category of projects that we would be hearing about again for the details of the costing, sir?


MR. ROGERS:  The answer is yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's fine.  Thank you.


D25 and D29 I'll deal with in a moment.  I would like to look at the category 1 project, please, other than the ones I've already dealt with.  And the ones I'm going to touch on are those where there was a bit of a lack of detail in the prefiled evidence.  


For the Lakehead transmission station, which is D4, the first one on the list, there was an interrogatory, 

J-1-85, and here the interrogatory states that the need for this project was further confirmed by the IESO.  Is that your understanding, also, sir?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  For D7 and also for D19 - so D7 was the 230 kV underground transmission lines at John transmission station and Esplanade and also D19, Sarnia generation connection plant - those both have leave-to-construct approval by the Board?


MR. PATTANI:  I believe for D19 we do not need a leave to construct.  I'm talking about generation connection.  Sorry.  Sorry, D7, you're right.


For D7, John to Esplanade, we have the leave to construct and I believe the project is going to be in service quite soon, within a matter of a few months.


But for D19, Sarnia generation connection plant, there was no line work involved which required a section 92, so there is no section 92 required for D19.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  One moment.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Pattani, just as Ms. Lea is conferring, just a clarification.  She asked you about D4, the Lakehead transformer station, and the suggestion was that IESO had further confirmed the need for the project.  


By that, do you mean that they have done the SIA, or is there a further observation by IESO in that case?


MR. PENSTONE:  The SIA is only undertaken by the IESO once we have proposed a solution.  We have not done that.  We have not provided all of the details of this particular investment to them, so the SIA is not undertaken.


The IESO's identification would have been through one of their reliability outlook reports.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Looking at D20, the new feeders at existing transmission stations, in addition to the prefiled evidence, I think there was more details added at Interrogatory J-1-95.  Am I right about that?


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  And similarly for the line connections, which is D30, there was more detail in Interrogatory 

J-1-97.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's right. 


MR. PATTANI:  That's right. 


MS. LEA:  Then there were nine customer connection projects that were reviewed at an Interrogatory J-1-85, and I want to just make sure that I understand which ones those are.  Those were D21 through 29.  So five of the category 1 projects appear there.  And in addition, two of the category 2 projects, D25, northwest Mississauga, and D29, Van Sickle transmission station.  I just want to make sure I understand which projects were covered by that interrogatory.  


MR. PATTANI:  If you don't mind, did you say J-1-85?  


MS. LEA:  The one with the long spreadsheets, sir.  Oops.  96.  My mistake.  96, I think.  Yes, J-1-96.  I'm sorry, in my haste I wrote down the wrong number.  It provides us with detailed spreadsheets on the costing of each of these projects.  


MR. PATTANI:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  


I have a couple of general questions also about load customer connection and for this I would like to go back to the prefiled evidence at D1, tab 3, schedule 3.  D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 19 of that exhibit.  So D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 19.  I had a question about the consequences of not proceeding with these projects.  


So there's a table, table 5, and this lists the costs here.  So these costs include the cost of connecting these customers to the system, obviously.


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. PATTANI:  They’re the cost of the transformer station, period.  These costs only go with the transformer station and where there is a connection line requirement, they would include that.  But most of these are -- they're stations.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So when we have a look at the second bullet point under the table, which talks about increased risk of rotating blackouts where existing facilities are overloaded.  Does this mean that there are other drivers, then, besides customer load connection, that prompt these expenditures?


MR. PATTANI:  All of these expenditures under the load customer connection are driven primarily, and I would say almost solely, by customer requirements.  It's the customer load forecast and the customer requirement that drives these requirements.  


What the second bullet is trying to say is that given a customer requirement, if we did not proceed with this particular investment -- take for example the Van Sickle TS, then there would need to be rotating blackouts for the loads that are connected off Van Sickle, if we don't proceed with this transformer station investment.


MR. PENSTONE:  I think perhaps a better example to underscore Mr. Pattani's point is Holland TS --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  -- where -- an investment which I know has captured the OEB's attention.  This is a situation where the existing transformers at that station are overloaded and have been overloaded for a number of years; where we're now in a situation where if we had a contingency affecting one of the transformers at Armitage, sorry.  The Holland TS is designed to alleviate the overload situation that exists at the Armitage TS located in Newmarket.  


We're in a situation now where if a transformer failure occurred at Armitage TS, you would be in a situation that you would have to interrupt customer load until you could repair that transformer.  


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  That's helpful.  The growth that we're seeing in the expenditures over the period represented in this table, particularly the two test years, is that growth driven by new people moving to these areas?  Is it the economy?  Is it the increased load per customer?  Do you have any sense of that?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I think I can go down through some of these.  Most of them have to do -- these are communities that are on the outskirts of the GTA, where there is a substantial amount of development underway.  Particularly Whitby and Enfield are good examples; Pleasant is another good example; northwest Mississauga.  These are all the bedroom communities, as it were, for the GTA. 


Red Lake TS is driven by increasing loads by customers up there, predominantly industrial customers.  The last time I checked not a lot of people are going to Red Lake for retirement or willing to do the commute.  So that's a driver by industrial mining companies, in particular.  


In some cases, these investments are designed to address load growth that is not as strong necessarily or as high necessarily as in the surrounding GTA area.  A good example of that is Kingston Gardiner.  That's a situation where the load has grown at a steady pace, but it has finally consumed the available transformation capacity at that station.


MS. LEA:  So the investment is lumpy in that kind of situation?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, it is.  And as Mr. Pattani points out, these are all investments that are undertaken at the behest of the LDCs that are served by those stations.  


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  In a similar vein, I wonder if we could look at D1, tab 3, schedule 3, and this time at page 17, and this is generator customer connection.


Just a small question:  How do you get a negative in 2004?


MR. PENSTONE:  That represents the capital contribution that has been made by the generator.  


MS. LEA:  I see, thank you.  And what are the primary drivers for the large amount in 2007?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That represents essentially the cash flows that these particular projects are incurring.  Both the Sarnia generation connection plan which was designed to enable the connection of two major generators in the Sarnia area; those generators were the winners of an RFP process that the OPA undertook.


So as a result of that, for all generation connections, we have the obligation to connect the generators that have got contracts with the OPA.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  At page 16, the page before that, you mentioned that other projects of this type may be likely.  I'm looking at about lines 16 through 21.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Mm-hmm.  


MS. LEA:  So the 2008 figure that you give us here, is that likely to increase, or are we talking beyond 2008?  


MR. PENSTONE:  It may increase, depending on the outcome of, again, other OPA procurement exercises.  I wouldn't expect that the generation or the projects would be completed in 2008, but expenditures would be incurred in 2008 to enable the future connection of generators. 


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  One moment, please. 


I just wanted to return for a moment, gentlemen, to the question I asked you about the leave to construct for the Sarnia generation connection plan, D19, which appears at category 1.


I guess I was thinking of the Greenfield Energy Centre leave to construct, but that's -- it was an application ‑‑there was an application by Greenfield itself.  Perhaps I was getting a bit confused about whether this, what we see here as D19, is related to that.


MR. PENSTONE:  The entire project requires modifications at the station to enable the connection of Greenfield.  Greenfield itself, I believe, has to construct a transmission line from its generating station to our stations.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.


Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea, you just turned off the on-air button when you turned off your speaker.  I just turned it back on again.


MS. LEA:  Good heavens, the power.


MS. NOWINA:  We discovered it.  Thank you.


Can I get an estimation of time and an order of cross‑examination from other parties, please?


MR. RODGER:  If you like Madam Chair, I would be pleased to go next, and I will be very short.  Probably ten minutes or less.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Who wants to follow Mr. Rodger?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I can follow Mr. Rodger.  I will be about 15 to 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. BUONAGURO:   I think I have about 45 minutes, maybe an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Buonaguro.  We might leave you until Thursday.  Anyone else?


MR. LONG:  I'm about five minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  About five minutes?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And that's it?  Give me a moment, please.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we have Mr. Rodger, Mr. DeVellis and Mr. Long today, and then we will go to Mr. Buonaguro on Thursday.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Panel, if I could start by returning to the new exhibit that was filed by your counsel this afternoon, Exhibit L2.1.


I just wanted to clarify, in part, the second category of projects, and specifically the guidance that you're seeking from this Board.


From the application, we're aware that this is a hearing seeking approvals of revenue requirement, and you described in your evidence-in‑chief, panel, about this guidance you're seeking from the Board.  


I guess what I'm struggling with is the nature of relief that you are expecting as a result of this guidance.  By that, I mean does that guidance really mean that the Board will be approving the revenue requirement pertaining to these second category of projects here that you have listed in L2.1?


MR. ROGERS:  It's a bit of a legal question.  I am quite content to have the witnesses ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, I don't think your mike is on.


MR. ROGERS:  Is that on now?  I'm sorry.  The light is not ‑‑ it's my eyes probably, but I can't tell when the light is on.  


This is a legal question, I suppose, but I'm quite happy to have the witnesses try to answer it from a technical perspective.  I will try to make it clear what the company's position is and I will do so again during the course of the hearing.  


So with that caveat, I am quite happy to try to have them try to answer the question.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. PENSTONE:  From a technical perspective, we're looking for confirmation of the need to undertake this particular investment and that the proposal that the ‑‑ the proposed solution to that need is, in fact, appropriate, in terms of ‑‑ if we have that level of assurance or comfort that gives us sufficient confidence to proceed with the project with the expectation that ultimately, through whatever mechanism it happens to be, we'll be able to recover these costs.


MR. RODGER:  Well, let me put it this way, and perhaps this is something Mr. Rogers should respond to, because I agree there is a certain legal aspect to this.  Let me put it this way:  What is a subsequent Panel of this Board going to do with the guidance that this Panel delivers?  Will that subsequent Panel not have to worry about any of the revenue requirement pertaining to this category?  Is that off the table?  I think that's what I'm really trying to get at.  Is the decision in this case, what does it do in terms of binding a subsequent Panel?


MR. ROGERS:  Can I try to answer that?  I'm sure -- it's a good question.


I think what the applicant seeks in this case really isn't that different from what any applicant in cases like this, the ones Mr. Rodger acts for from time to time, would be seeking.


The problem we have in this particular company is that the lead times here are quite large for its projects, so it is called upon now to spend large sums of money without the ability to assure itself that they have -- it has approval from the Board in advance through a section 92 application or some other means.


Now, this happens with the gas companies, too, to some extent, but not as acutely, because of the long lead times here.


What my client is seeking is not the Board's commitment that it will include whatever the costs are in rate base eventually, but I think it is fair to say that my client is looking to the Board and hopes the Board will be able to provide assurance that the capital program that the company is proposing is an appropriate approach, subject to coming back later to demonstrate to you that the costs have been reasonable and prudently incurred.


What it is concerned about is that it's called upon to make -- to begin a project, perhaps because of the impetus provided by other parties.  It commits to spending millions and millions of dollars, and then three or four years down the road is told by this Board it never should have embarked on that course of conduct in the beginning and it cannot recover those costs.  That is what it is concerned about.  


But it fully expects to come and demonstrate to you, beyond the test period, that the costs they incur for these projects are reasonable.


MR. RODGER:  I don't want the panel or the applicant to take this the wrong way.  We're not being critical.  We just want to understand what is going to be approved here and what is going to be left for subsequent hearings.


The simplest way I can say it is:  Is it the expectation that the revenue requirement for these category 2 projects are off the table after this Board renders a decision on them?  I think that is what we're struggling with.  So this will not be heard again or reopened again at a subsequent proceeding.


MR. ROGERS:  No, that's not correct.  That for the expenditures beyond the test period, my client expects to come back to satisfy the Board that those costs are prudently incurred.


What it fears - I will say again - is that at that point people may take the position that you never should have started down this path in the first place.  And we're asking the Board -- and I appreciate it is a difficult situation, but we're asking the Board to give the highest level of assurance you're comfortable giving that the program that the company is undertaking is sensible in the circumstances, subject to later demonstration that the level of costs are reasonable.


MR. RODGER:  And part of the rationale, as I understand it from the evidence, is that the applicant is taking this approach because this appears to be an approach that has been taken by other regulators in perhaps similar circumstances.  


I wonder if you could also provide me a bit more information about that.  In these other jurisdictions, is it the same type of situation where, as a result of provincial action or other action, you are really in a sense being forced to undertake these initiatives that you may or may not otherwise have done on your own volition; is that the kind of situation that you're pointing us to by looking at other jurisdictions?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I'm afraid I'm not qualified to comment on that.  I'm not certain which panel might be able to address that question.  


MR. ROGERS:  If my friend Mr. Rodger is referring to the four projects -- I can't think of the name of them now -- the supply mix projects, it's separate from what we're talking about now.  The supply mix projects are driven by some of the same considerations but, in that case my client asked that the costs for those four projects, even though they will not come into service and be used and useful within the rate period, nevertheless be included in rate base, in accordance with precedents established in other jurisdictions.  That's different from what we're talking about now, Mr. Rodger.  It is part of the same problem, but a different aspect.


MR. RODGER:  Well perhaps I can put it to you this way and this may clarify my issue, Mr. Rogers.  


If you go to Exhibit L2.1, you've got these four categories of projects.  Which are the categories that go into the rate base as you spend the money?  


MR. ROGERS:  With your leave I will -- I will answer the questions through you, Madam Chair.  


Category 1 are expenditures which will come into service during the test period.  All right?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And hence will form part of the rate base if this Board finds they're reasonable.


MR. PENSTONE:  You don't believe any of the category 2 projects are considered as candidates for the supply mix projects?


MR. RODGER:  No.  So when the money is spent on these projects, they will not go into the rate base.  They will wait for some subsequent period.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  Or some subsequent mechanism.  


MR. RODGER:  Yes, okay.


MR. ROGERS:  Did you want me to carry on?


MR. RODGER:  I just want to confirm about categories 3 and categories 4.  That is, whether in these categories, do they go into rate base as you spend the money on them.


MR. ROGERS:  Category 3, and I ask the witnesses to correct me if I'm wrong about this, but category 3 are projects in which there will be approval through other mechanisms, and will come into the rate base in due course, once they're used and useful.  But they will be approved through other mechanisms, and my client will have some assurance that these costs will be recovered when they get approval through these other mechanisms, either through a section 92 application --


MR. PENSTONE:  These are all, Category 3 are all section 92 applications?


MR. ROGERS:  All section 92.  So they're not so concerned about those because they will have prior approval before they spend large sums of money. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Just to address Mr. Rogers' question about which of these are in the supply mix.  That would be the Hydro Quebec and transmission reinforcements for Bruce.  


MR. RODGER:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  So Hydro One's seeking this other recovery mechanism for those two projects.  


MR. RODGER:  And the fourth and final category, again, is a section -- subject to section 92 and that money wouldn't go into the rate base until, again, it is approved by that other mechanism, other procedure?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Just to be clear on that one.  Item number D-2, SVCs in southwestern Ontario is also a supply mix project.  And also to be clear, that will not require a section 92, because there is no lines to be constructed.  


MR. RODGER:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  But -- 


MR. RODGER:  So does that project go into the rate base as you spend the money?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Because it's a supply mix project, yes.  


MR. RODGER:  I see, okay.  


MR. PENSTONE:  The fourth and final supply mix project isn't on the list, and it's the Niagara Reinforcement project.


MR. RODGER:  Mm-hmm.  Now, just on that Niagara project, again I just want to understand how the mechanism is going to work.  I think it was Mr. McQueen mentioned that this project, you're expecting it to come into service this year, that originally it was estimated that about $491 million would be in rate base, and that when it is complete the Niagara project will be about 588 million?  No?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I believe Mr. McQueen was talking about the entire capital, Hydro One's entire capital program. 


MR. RODGER:  I see, okay.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Were those -- figures of those magnitudes do not apply to the Niagara Reinforcement project.  I believe that project was -- 


MR. PATTANI:  $116 million was approved in the leave-to-construct.  


MR. RODGER:  But in terms of the discrepancy between the amounts, 491 relating to 588 million as a global figure, I take it it is the 588 million that would come into rate base.  Or I guess what I was trying to understand is:  What is the number now that would come into rate base through this process?  Maybe I can put it that way.


MR. McQUEEN:  What I had tried to say earlier, sir, was that the rate filing, as I understand it, was based on $491 million worth of new assets flowing into the rate base in 2007.  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  


MR. McQUEEN:  If we were to actually be able to finish Niagara reinforcement this year, if the blockade were to be lifted, that project would also flow in and the total would be $588 million that would flow into the asset base. 


MR. RODGER:  I see. 


MR. McQUEEN:  But given that that is questionable, the number would be 487, if I have my math correctly, which is within a percentage of what's in the rate filing of 491.  


MR. RODGER:  That's helpful.  Now I'm wondering if you could -- I just want to turn you to one exhibit.  It's prefiled evidence, volume 4, D2, tab 2 and the reference is page D12. So pre-filed evidence, volume 4, D2, tab 2, D12.  This is one of many project investment justifications.  


I just want to explore, if you like, the interrelationship between development capital -- 


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, could you repeat the reference?  


MR. RODGER:  Yes, it is prefiled evidence, volume 4, D-2, tab 2, D12.  Reference D12.  


MR. PATTANI:  What's the schedule?  Schedule 4, I think?


MR. RODGER:  Yes, you're right.  D2, tab 2, reference D12.


MR. PATTANI:  Okay.  


MR. RODGER:  It's the Allenberg TS. 


MR. PATTANI:  Okay, that's good.  


MS. NOWINA:  Have you gentlemen ascertained the schedule from that? 


MR. PATTANI:  It is in schedule 4, and within schedule 4 there is the IJD number D12. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, got it. 


MR. RODGER:  And I wanted to ask you about the interrelationship between development capital and yesterday's discussion of sustainment.  


At the highest level can I summarize the evidence of yesterday, today, is in essence Hydro One meeting the needs of your system, the growing needs of the system.


Would you agree with me that when we speak of either development capital or sustainable capital, the bottom line is we're going to reinvigorate the system, to making the system better able to hands will the needs that Hydro One expects.  Is that kind of a high level fair characterization of the ultimate goal here?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And would you agree with me that there will always be some sustainment benefits built into development capital?  


MR. PENSTONE:  When you say "always be some sustainment benefits", in some cases, when we construct and place into service a new asset, in fact we incur some sustainment, additional sustainment requirements.  I mean a major new asset like Parkway TS, we're now having to assume operation and maintenance of that particular station and there's sustainment consequences.  


MR. RODGER:  Well, perhaps I could illustrate what I mean here by referring to this Allenberg TS upgrade, on this reference D12.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  


MR. RODGER:  If you look at the investment summary in the third paragraph, the first sentence reads:

"This investment replaces the smaller related transformer unit, T1, with a transformer of the same rating as the other three."


So in this case, I take it that that smaller-rated transformer unit, I take it that is an old station, is that correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Allenberg is an old station.  I can't comment on the age of the T1, though.


MR. RODGER:  Okay, but that station is removed and the new ‑‑


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, the transformer?


MR. RODGER:  The transformer is removed and put in its place, but there will be no need for sustaining OM&A on that new unit because you have just put it in?


MR. PENSTONE:  There will be small amounts, but, you know, nominal amounts of O&M.  As you point out, it is a new asset.


MR. RODGER:  Likewise, if you just flip the page over one to reference D13.  This is the Woodstock area transmission reinforcement.  Again, going down to the third paragraph of the investment summary, in this case it is replacing an existing two circuit 230 kV line.  And it's talking about a new 230/115 kV auto transformer station will be installed.


So you're replacing a 115 kV line with new infrastructure.  Again, you don't have that -- because it is new, you don't have the sustainment OM&A on that old equipment anymore?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  And would you agree with me, then, that the increases in development capital that you've been talking about in your evidence today, that brings along a certain amount of sustainment activity naturally?


MR. PENSTONE:  In some cases, the two examples that you cited, where we're actually retiring or ‑‑ retiring an old asset and replacing it with a new one, I agree with the logic that inherently you're going to have a reduced sustainment burden.


However, there are a number of development projects within our filing where it is a brand new asset.  We are not replacing existing assets at all, and in fact installing a brand new asset will increase the sustainment requirements.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


Mr. DeVellis.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


As the witnesses indicated this morning, there was an error in the exhibit I submitted yesterday, and I've made some corrections and I've given copies ‑‑ left them for Ms. Lea.  I see she has gone now, but perhaps Mr. Thiessen could assist me.  I provided copies of the corrected exhibit to Mr. Rogers, as well.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I provided copies to the other parties.


MS. NOWINA:  So these will replace your previous exhibit?  We won't need a new exhibit number?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, it was ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry?


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, you may, only because we referred to the original.  In fact, I think that one of the witnesses this morning pointed out these errors, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Good point, Mr. Rogers.  Why don't we give it a new exhibit, then?


MR. THIESSEN:  That will be Exhibit L2.3.



EXHIBIT NO. L2.3:  CORRECTED VERSION OF EXHIBIT L1.1

MR. DeVELLIS:  Perhaps we can refer to the exhibit, then, as a corrected version of L1.1, just so it is clear on the record.


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we'll do that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


Mr. Penstone, perhaps I can ask you to turn to page 2 of the exhibit.  I will show you -- I will direct you to where the ‑‑


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, I don't have a copy.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I understand you're seeing this for the first time, so if you want to take it away and satisfy yourself that the corrections are correct, I will just direct you to where they are.  They're the shaded cells on page 2 at rows 63, 64 and 65.


I'm going to change gears a little bit and ask you about the OM&A portion of operations and development, and the first area I want to ask you about is the operations OM&A.


You have indicated, at your evidence ‑ I don't think you need to turn this up unless you want to ‑ Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 3, that in 2003 and 2004 you had some one‑time costs, including staff moving costs, wage maintenance and severance costs associated with the consolidation of the operating function to one centre.


We were looking at that and we would have expected there to be some savings from the operations resulting from that consolidation and we don't see it there, and I will direct you to the Exhibit L2.1 now on page 2.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Mr. DeVellis, actually, Mr. Tremblay will respond to your questions.  He is right at the end.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh.


MR. TREMBLAY:  Sorry, could you repeat the exhibit that you are directing me to now?


MR. DeVELLIS:  It is actually Exhibit L2.1, the spreadsheet I just handed out.  On page 2 of the exhibit, at line 62 you have the operations line item, and you see the original amount is 29.2, and 38.3 million for years 2003 and 2004, and then we've excluded the one-time adjustments that I just referred you to in the line below.  So it's 27.8 million and 33.6 million.


And my question is:  Where those one‑time costs were absorbed for a reason, and that was the consolidation of the --- to the grid control centre; is that right?


MR. TREMBLAY:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So my question is:  Where are the savings, then, from that consolidation?  Because if you look further on, along to the later rows, the total operations, excluding the one-time adjustment, is back to $40 million.  By 2005, they're up to 38 million.


MR. TREMBLAY:  The savings that we had, you can't draw a direct comparison, I guess, and the rationale is because prior to the consolidation project, we had 12 transmission stations geographically located around the province.


What we have done as an estimate, we looked at that for the -- upon completion of the project in 2004.  Going forward we've done some estimates in terms of what our expenditure would be if we still were servicing the original 12 stations. 


And on that basis, we're showing ‑‑ we would have expected our expenditures to be approximately $12 million higher.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, with respect to the increase from 2006 to your projection for 2007, it's from 27.4 million to 30.4 million for the operations line at row 62 of our table, what you said in your evidence is that the reason for the increase ‑ this is at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 4 ‑ is to provide for training activities for the certification of the operators in the control room as transmission operators with NERC, to provide ongoing training to maintain certification, and to train and mentor junior staff to prepare for senior staff retirements.


We asked you for a breakdown of those training costs at Exhibit J, tab 7, schedule 17, the School Energy Coalition interrogatory.


Now, I see the response there.  You've broken it down and it is $4 million.  Now, is that staff time that you have calculated there?


MR. TREMBLAY:  No.  A big portion of that we've tried to ‑‑ the different categories, but a large portion of that is, you see under number 1 in the table new trainees, 29.  That is -- the actual overhead is -- includes the entire burden, if you will, for the new trainees.


We've hired 29 new operator trainees, and it takes approximately three years before they can sit in the seat and actually start to perform work.  So they require three years' training.  So during that period of time we consider them as -- we carry them as an overhead, if you will.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, my question was going to be, wouldn't that time be recorded somewhere else?  Since you're saying it is an incremental cost.  


MR. TREMBLAY:  It is an incremental cost.  It goes into our operations, but overall operations budget.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And would you expect those, that level of training to continue into -- past 2007?  


MR. TREMBLAY:  It will continue for a few years, and then it will also -- it will vary year to year.  As I said, we are looking at the retirement from a demographic perspective.  We have a lot of operators over the next two, three, four years that are reaching retirement age.


On that basis, we try to estimate how many will retire and leave the company on the date that they're eligible and you have to, then, replace them with these new operators.  So we expect to see the number come down, in terms of -- so our overall staff count, I guess what I'm saying in terms of operators, has not changed the baseline, it is just that we're carrying, if you will, the new trainees that are over and above that until they sit in the seat.  And we're -- looking up to five years out, we expect to see carrying roughly these numbers and then demographically that will start to drop off and it will drop back down. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  So you expect this level of training to continue, you said for the next five years, then, before you see a drop off?  


MR. TREMBLAY:  Approximately, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  The next area I wanted to ask you about is the research and development expenditures.  I'm not sure who to address this question to.


We see at line 55 of Exhibit L2.1 -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Column 2.3, isn't it, Mr. DeVellis?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sorry.  It was point 1 yesterday.  Thank you.  


MR. ROGERS:  It's the document I just got.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  So Exhibit L2.3, line 55, 110 percent increase over historical average in R&D spending.  And you will recall yesterday our discussion regarding efficiencies, and there was a table at Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2 and it had -- you can turn it up if you want -- but large dollar amounts of efficiencies in the historic years and very, comparatively very little in the test years.  And my question is, if the research and development expenditures are designed to discover or elicit savings in other areas, why we're not seeing corresponding efficiencies in the test years.


MR. PENSTONE:  A couple of comments on the research and development, in terms of, to your first point about efficiencies.


The actual expenditures that we're making generally, we -- our R&D is done not by Hydro One alone.  Most of the R&D expenditures are done in a form of consortia with other utilities, who are trying to address issues of common concern and trying to find new solutions to those problems.  


We spoke a lot over the last day and a half about how do we sustain an aging transmission asset base.  The utilities everywhere are trying to do at that and there is a lot of R&D being undertaken to try to find some solutions to that particular problem.  


To your second point about efficiencies.  The big purpose of R&D is to try to find products that will solve problems and, I agree, also to some extent, enable us to achieve some efficiencies.  


The large increase is -- parallels the substantial capital investments and sustainment investments that we're having to make.  We need to find new solutions to the problems that we're facing, and this is the program that we try to develop and pilot those solutions.  


So normally the process is that we would find utilities with common problems.  We would arrive, or discover a product that might be able to solve that problem and we would then pilot it.  


That's all within this particular program.  And I think you can appreciate that, considering the number of investments that we have to make, we are trying to find innovative solutions as often as we can.  And that is the explanation as to why we're trying to ramp up that R&D program.


These, by the way, products do not necessarily get implemented the next day.  We have a fairly careful process where we have to make evaluations of these particular products before we will actually deploy them on a widespread basis. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Part of your answer, you said that part of the reason for the ramp-up is that you're increasing --because you are increasing sustainment and development capital projects and OM&A, that that is driving increases in R&D?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, we're trying to find solutions.  We know that we have -- our assets have a lot of needs that have to be addressed and we're trying to find new and innovative solutions that will address those requirements.  


For example, we may be able to do -- in order to keep our maintenance costs for an aging asset fleet, keep them reduced, to install better monitoring on our existing assets, to be able to detect earlier and without necessarily some intrusive testing, when they are degrading, so that's an example of some R&D activities that are currently underway.  Better job of monitoring the asset health in real time, before it fails.  


And we're embarking on those types, as I mentioned before, we're entering, you know, a substantial period where we've got these issues on our assets and we're trying to find ways to manage them.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I would like to ask you next about your standards development expenditures, and that's summarized at line 56 of Exhibit L2.3.


Your proposal for the test years is 4 million in 2007, 4.1 million in 2008.  And your reasons you've given is that - again, I don't know if you need to turn this up, but if you want to, go ahead; it's Exhibit C-1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 2 - is to provide new standards in order to address Transmission System Code changes, new reliability requirements of the NERC and the Northeast Power Coordinating Council and growing capital investments and new equipment with increased functionality.  


In a VECC Interrogatory No. 42, it is exhibit J-5, schedule 42, you are asked if a portion of the increase in standards development should be considered a one-time expenditure, in response to major changes in the TSC and major new reliability requirements by NERC and NPCC.


Your response was: 

"We expect further new reliability requirements by NERC and NPCC so this item should not be considered a one-time expenditure."


It seems to me there that you're asking for approval for expenditures that you're not aware of presently.  


MR. PENSTONE:  No, I believe we just responded to the question directly, which was -- well, our interpretation was, are these expenditures basically one-time expenditure?  They're designed to address requirements that have been identified by NERC and NPCC and that we have to comply with.


For example, new reliability requirements related to cyber security, for example, will require us to develop some standards to enable compliance.  That is a known new requirement from NERC.  However, NERC has identified a number of additional standards that are currently being developed that we expect ultimately to be approved and once those standards are approved, within the Ontario market rules, we would be obligated to comply with them.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you don't know what they are now or whether they will be approved?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  We have ‑‑ NERC goes through a fairly extensive process to recognize the need for a standard, establish a standards drafting team, then consult with industry stakeholders, and, finally, vote on the particular standard.  It's actually a process that is comparable to standards development that's employed by the CSA.  


So it's a fairly lengthy process and there are a number of standards that are in that process, and we're aware of them and we track where they are.  And we could, you know, identify to you, if you wished, how many of these standards are coming, approaching us.  


In a number of cases, we're actually involved in trying to craft those standards ourselves.  So it's about, you know, I would say maybe a year and a half or two years from the time that they decide that a standard is required from the time that it would actually -- we would have an obligation to comply.


These things don't hit us overnight.


MR. DeVELLIS:  In parts 2 and 3 of that interrogatory response, Exhibit J, tab 5, schedule 42, you're asked about spending levels beyond 2008, and what -- your answer was that in parts 2 and 3, projection of spending level beyond 2008 are out of scope for this hearing.


But you are asking for revenue requirement approval for years beyond 2008, 2009, 2010, part of your revenue requirement adjustment mechanism?


MR. ROGERS:  I just interrupt.  These witnesses are ‑‑ I don't think anybody is familiar with the regulatory framework or with the adjustment mechanism.  The adjustment mechanism will be spoken to by a later witness.  Some costs will be included if it's approved, but these may not be in that category.  


I wonder if Mr. DeVellis could just defer that to the adjustment panel?


MS. NOWINA:  Can you do that, Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't have technical questions regarding the adjustment mechanism.  I would have thought the witnesses were aware that the company is applying for an adjustment mechanism for 2009, 2010, and my question is, if they don't expect certain expenditures that they're projecting in 2007 and 2008 to continue to 2009 and 2010, then it would be relevant for the Board to consider that issue.


MS. NOWINA:  I think it is fair to ask them the question about whether or not they expect these expenses to continue beyond 2008.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  That was what the interrogatory asked, and then their answer was that it was not relevant.


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, as I mentioned before, we expect ‑‑ NERC is developing new standards.  We expect to have to comply with those standards.


We expect that standards development that's being undertaken by NERC will continue in 2007, 2008 and beyond.


I can't suggest to you, necessarily, what those standards might be that we have to comply with in the 2009 and 2010 time frame, but our expectation is that these new standards will continue to develop.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What about research and development?  Do you expect that ‑‑ that was part 3 of the interrogatory.  Do expect that level of spending to continue to 2009, 2010?


MR. PENSTONE:  You know what?  I really can't comment on the precise level of spending.  I expect that we will continue to do R&D in 2009 and 2010.  The extent of that R&D and the specifics of that R&D will depend on, as I say, what are the issues that we have to address to manage our current assets and to enable the construction of future assets.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Long.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. LONG:

MR. LONG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My name is Richard Long, panel, and I represent the Society of Energy Professionals.  Good afternoon.


I guess I will direct my question concerning contact and cost to Mr. McQueen.  You testified earlier that you were having increasing challenges in obtaining various pieces of equipment and material.


What concerns do you have with respect to contracting ‑‑ contractor availability and the contractor's ability to charge more due to the demand from you and from others in the United States, western Canada and Ontario?


MR. McQUEEN:  If I understand your question correctly, your question is around the charges to us of contractors and how they might be capitalizing upon the sellers' market situation that we're facing?


MR. LONG:  Precisely.


MR. McQUEEN:  Good.  I guess at any point in time, the measure of what is a fair and reasonable price is set by competitive procurement processes, and so to the extent that we do use contractors -- for example, we've got a contractor boring the tunnel and lining the tunnel downtown.  We have a contractor installing the cables.  


All of those were competitively tendered projects and awarded on the basis of the best all around commercial deal for the corporation.  So I think realistically that would set the standard for what is an appropriate and fair market price for it.


Clearly, as I mentioned, the cost of an auto transformer in 2002, units ordered November 2003, delivered early fall 2004, cost us in the order of -- I believe I said $6 million each, and the latest one that we've just ordered a few weeks ago, a similar capacity, very similar design, higher insulation ratings because of some things we learned from recent failures, but the price has gone from 6 million to 14 million.


So I would have to say that to a certain extent, manufacturers and vendors are taking advantage of the sellers' market.  There is no denying that, at all.


MR. LONG:  Have you experienced any increased costs recently that you observed with respect to the use of contractors?


MR. McQUEEN:  In terms of specific projects?


MR. LONG:  Yes.


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes.  I think, for example, one project where that would be correct would be the Belle River transformer station where we attempted to place orders for two transformers against a blanket purchase order, and the manufacturer declined the orders and said, Please go somewhere else unless you're prepared to pay us more money.  


So at that particular point in time, we revisited the marketplace and obtained the best bid that we could get at the time, and there was a significant cost increase and I can't tell you exactly what it was, but top of mind I'm thinking was in the order of about 20 percent.


MR. LONG:  I was thinking more of the use of contract labour, consultants, engineers, that kind of soft contracting.


MR. McQUEEN:  We have draw‑down contracts in place with a number of consulting engineering companies.  The loaded‑up labour costs that they're charging us depends upon the type of work and the quantity of work.


I can tell you that as multiples of salary, which is the standard measure in the consulting marketplace, for more of the routine‑type work and -- call it on a bulk-rate basis, for example, we have a consultant that is working with us to deliver the meter service-provider work that we're obliged to do and also some of the RTU work.  The loaded-up rate that they charge us is 2.0 times salary.


For smaller quantities of routine work on an occasional basis, that multiplier can be as much as 2.5 on salary.  For some experts, the type of people that are one or two or three available in the marketplace, the real gurus that you might want to refer to, those ones can be sold today in the order of 3.0 to 3.5 times salary.


We don't use an awful lot of those.


MR. LONG:  My final question is:  Do you have plans to build any bench strength within the organization?  I know you talked about having a core group of people, but it's been quite a while since you've gone and actually hired anybody in the professional group from without, except for the temporary and sort of non‑traditional arrangements that you have.  But do you plan to build any bench strength within?


MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, we do.  In fact -- and again, there is an individual who will be appearing on a later panel who can speak more eloquently to some of the HR and LR questions that you may have.  But I can tell you that in the last little while we have, in fact, posted and filled a fair number of internal positions which have resulted in promotions for some of our junior and intermediate staff to more senior positions, in preparation for hiring the next generation of younger staff coming in.  


And most recently, within the last couple of months, we have posted for external hire something like – well, not something like, in fact 40 professional engineering positions, 25 of them in my engineering group alone.


So yes indeed, we do plan on building bench strength.  As I said earlier, we are committed to having an appropriate level of internal expertise which will provide us a sustainable work force for the future.  But as I said earlier, we certainly -- it's not in our strategic plan to hire sufficient people to do -- this bulge in the workforce that we're seeing in the next few years, we don't believe that would be a prudent thing to do.


MR. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. McQueen.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair. 


MS. NOWINA:  Okay, Mr. Long.  Mr. Rupert has one clarifying question.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. RUPERT:  This was sort of sparked by a question from Mr. Rodger earlier.


A number of the investment justification documents we have in the binders here refer to the IESO's reliability outlook, referred to the June outlook, where these were filed and most all of them I'm sure are included in the March outlook which was just issued a while ago.  I'm trying to figure out what we should take from the inclusion of a project in this reliability outlook.  


By that I mean should I take the fact that it is, in your opinion, in an IESO chart, as some indication that IESO has approved that, has identified the need?  Or is the IESO merely -- not being facetious, but just providing a sort of stenographic service, saying: they've told us about it, we'll put it in the chart.  How much comfort should we take from the fact that a project is in the reliability outlook?  Because their document itself says something along the lines that this document they put out is to report on progress.  Are we to take from that, what is in the document, that is proof of the need being confirmed by the IESO?  Or is it some lesser level of assurance we should take from that?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Notwithstanding the fact that a need is identified in the IESO's report, we would still, if it requires a construction of a line, have to proceed with a section 92 application to the Board and within that application it is incumbent on us to describe that need.  


We would certainly reference the IESO's report, but we would go into more detail in terms of the specifics of the need, that I believe isn't necessarily contained in those reliability outlooks.   


I believe the purpose of those reliability outlook reports is to provide essentially a heads-up to market participants, you know, and we're deemed to be a market participant as a transmitter, to develop proposals or solutions to the issues that are identified in that report and this is what Hydro One does.


When a transmission need is highlighted, we like to develop a proposed solution to it.  As I mentioned before, in some cases I would have to go in front of a section 92 application; a good example of that was Hurontario and a lot of projects surrounding GTA West.  They were flagged in the reliability outlook.  We developed a proposal, submitted the proposal in the section 92, which included a description of the need, and the OEB rendered a decision.  


To me, the other advantage of the IESO is, again, they're completely independent.  I mean, there are some suggestions that, you know, as a transmitter we may be seeking to, you know build unnecessarily and create a need.  Well, you have an independent party that is suggesting the need exists.


I would also point out that in some cases the needs --there are also generation solutions as well as transmission solutions.  So in terms of their reliability outlook, presumably generators could see some of these needs and develop proposals either through the OPA or others, potentially that could address them.  


MR. RUPERT:  The reason for my question was just in terms of the category 2 projects on your Exhibit L2.1 that Mr. Rodger was asking you about earlier.  These are the ones that will not likely go through a section 92 process.  


The biggest one is the Claireville Cherrywood project.  That one is identified in the IESO report.  It's there.  So I'm just trying to get a handle on what the degree of guidance, assurance that you folks and Mr. Rogers were talking about, beyond the need identified in the IESO, that you're seeking from this process, on the category 2 investments.


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, with due respect to the IESO, if they identify a need and we recommend a solution and undertake that solution.  They're in no position to enable us to provide any kind of assurance of cost recovery.  


So from the Board's perspective, in terms of getting some sort of confirmation of the need, normally our practice has been in other section 92 applications, for example, to submit testimonials from the OPA and the IESO, that would support our own need assessments, so that you are getting not only Hydro One's views but the views of these other independent parties.  


I can offer a personal observation, that if the OPA -- and this is strictly personal, that if the OPA is suggesting that it's a good project to undertake, and the IESO is suggesting it's a good project to undertake, and Hydro One has suggested it's a good project to undertake, these are three parties that have looked at the project from their own perspectives.  And I think you're getting a lot of technical advice, not only from ourselves, but for from the other entities that should enable you to sort of draw a conclusion.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  I will leave it there.  Thanks.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you everyone.  That concludes our questioning for today.


We will adjourn and reconvene on Thursday morning at 9:30.


--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:22 p.m. 
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